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The Scots’ Church was founded in 1838 by Scots settlers as a parish of the Church of
Scotland. The parish was the first of any denomination in Victoria to be established
and to hold regular worship services. Scots’ is therefore the mother church of the
Presbyterian Church of Victoria and foundational church of the Christian faith in the
city and state.

With the growth of Melbourne from a village on the Yarra to a great city of Australia
and the Pacific, Scots’ has become one the city’s great churches, alongside the
cathedrals. Although, as a Presbyterian church, it remains a parish church, it bears
a relationship to the city and country comparable to that which Saint Giles’, the
High Kirk, bears to Edinburgh and Scotland. Scots’ is a church which, at once, bears
responsibility for both a congregation, as any congregation, with all its spiritual and
pastoral needs, and for speaking to the city, the state, and nation and to the world
beyond. Scots’ is a church with high calling.

Scots’ Church upholds the Presbyterian faith and worship in its fullness and
integrity. Scots’ has a long and fine tradition in preaching and worship. In preaching
it has maintained a tradition which has intellectual and theological depth, which has 
relevance to the issues of the day, and which is founded on holy scripture. Above all, 
the preaching has proclaimed a Gospel of grace whereby God reconciles humanity
to himself through his Son. It is the Gospel of confidence in the grace of God.

In all this, Scots’ is mindful of its standing as a daughter church of the Church of
Scotland with which it has continued close association through the ministers it has
called and through the Turnbull Trust by which the world’s finest preachers have
been brought to its pulpit.

Scots’ is where international visitors come and tell us that the worship, especially the
music and the preaching, is inspiring and that it is that which is to be identified with
the churches from which they come.

The present church building is the second on the site. It was designed to be the
most beautiful in Australia and represents the ideals of the generation which built it
believing that God was worthy of the best which they could give and as an enduring
and confident statement of the Reformed faith. These ideals are ones which the
present generation also seeks, by the grace of God, to uphold.



ii

For e wor d

This year’s Annual Report covers one of the more turbulent and 
testing periods in the 182 years of the Scots’ Church Melbourne. 

After 19 years as Senior Minister, Rev Douglas Robertson answered a 
call to Crown Church Inverness.  This ushered in a period of vacancy 
and Presbytery’s appointment of myself as Interim Moderator.  The 
vacancy brought about the election of a selection committee to 
seek out the man God has chosen to be the 14th Senior Minister 
of the charge.  It also created a need to supply the pulpit for the 

traditional Sunday morning services.  Necessity being the mother of invention, a guest preachers 
program was initiated, with some of Australia’s foremost evangelical preachers graciously filling 
the void.  Another void was created with the illness of a key member of the Scots’ ministry team, 
Rev Richard O’Brien, who has had to be relieved of his ministerial duties.  In God’s providence, 
this opened the way for Rev Litha Heshusius to be appointed to part-time pastoral care ministry.

Of course, the most turbulent and testing thing about this last year has been the COVID-19 
coronavirus pandemic.  It has brought widespread death, suffering, distress, dislocation, 
economic crisis and much more.  For Scots’ as a people of God, it has meant the suspension of 
gathered public worship for much, much longer than ever before.  

But once again, necessity has been the mother of invention.  Many have stepped up to keep 
the church functioning, often in new and innovative ways.  The Scots’ Weekly has grown and 
blossomed to keep us informed via email and the website.  Pre-recorded services enable us 
to worship in the “cathedral of the mind”.  The Big Hymn Sing was broadcast on YouTube to 
far more people than could have enjoyed it otherwise.  Rev Christian Tirtha hosted a webinar 
on A Healthy Mind During Crisis.  Mr Andrew Wong conducts YouTube worship services for St 
Stephen’s and the Engage congregations.  Mr Sonal Herlekar took over the responsibility for a 
weekly live-streamed Bible study group.  A team of enthusiastic volunteers and staff created a 
truly wonderful web-based Scots’ Church digital tour and activities for Open House Melbourne 
2020.

The list of challenges and unexpected opportunities could go on, but that will do for the moment.

One final innovation worth noting is the new, easier to read A4 format of this Annual Report 
which, for the first time, will be available to the world on the Scots’ Church website.  We all owe 
Miss Rosalie Strother a debt of thanks for her selfless and exacting work with the Annual Report 
(as well as her outstanding editorship of The Leaflet, of course).

In reflecting on this unpredictable and seemingly chaotic year, I am reminded that our 
perspective and God’s perspective are vastly different.  None of this was a surprise to the God of 
eternity.  And in all sorts of ways, the gospel of grace continues to go out into the world, so that 
those who have ears to hear may indeed hear, and may turn to God, and believe the good news 
of Jesus the Christ.
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I want to particularly record my grateful thanks to Mr Peter Armstrong.  He, too, suffered 
unexpected trauma in a serious traffic accident that added a large degree of difficulty to his 
already onerous responsibilities, but his dedication did not weaken.  As well as his thoroughly 
excellent work as the Clerk of the Kirk Session, he has been a rich source of wisdom, comfort, 
encouragement and fellowship to me.

Finally, to all members and friends of the Scots’ Church Melbourne, my prayer is that you and 
your church community may continue to be blessed, in all seasons, in the knowledge and love 
of Christ Jesus our Lord.

Rev Philip Court 
Interim Moderator
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1.  t h e  s cot s’  ch u rc h Me l b ou r n e

 181st  A n n uA l  bu s i n e s s  Me e t i ng

 su n dAy 27 oc t ob e r 2019
 Mi n u t e s

1. Meeting constituted

The meeting was constituted and opened by the Chairman, the Rev. Douglas Robertson, with 
reading and a prayer, followed by the singing of a hymn.

2. Guest Speaker

The Rev. Douglas Robertson introduced the Guest Speaker, Lexie Keller Shear from TEAR 
Australia who spoke about the TEAR Australia story and mission and their focus on building 
local partnerships and addressing hard places and issues including extreme poverty, climate 
justice and the strengthening of civil society.

3. Attendance and apologies:

The following communicant members attended the meeting: Caroline Allinson; Rae Anstee; Peter 
Armstrong; Ken Bowden; Eileen Bowden; Ian Pitcher; Charles Castle; Bert Ekkel; Robin Emmett; 
David Gibb; Val Gibb; Leah Gordon-Brown; Audrey Holder; Joyce Jordan; Barry Kilmartin; Judith 
Kilmartin; Jenny Kim; Brian Lowe; Margaret E. Lowe; Judie Morrow- Emmett; Lauris Murnane; 
James Nuske; Barbara Noisette; Richard O’Brien; Rosemary O’Brien; Jenny Pilgrim; Douglas 
Ritchie; Ella Ritchie; Alison Robertson; Duncan Robertson; Margaret Scott; Graeme Shaw; 
Douglas Sherman; Danise Sherman; Tom Stirling; Irene Stirling; Rosalie Strother; Yvonne Sullivan; 
Gordon Taylor; Lois Taylor; Andrew Satterley; Christian Tirtha; Dennis Troedel; Adam Thrussell; 
Wayne Truong; Alistair Urquhart; Brenda Williams; and Ian Williams.  Also attending was the 
Scots’ Church Administrator, Sebert Ruddock, other staff members; and the Guest Speaker, Lexie 
Keller Shear.

Apologies were received from: Leesa Allinson; Stewart Banks; Nancy Banks; Pauline Castle; Mary 
Cooper; Rosemary Fethers; Max Griffiths; Fiona Head; Helen Holman; Elizabeth Lewis; Robert 
Lowe; Margaret Lowe; Merrilyn Murnane; David Neilson; Wendy Neilson; Graham Nixon; Helen 
Nixon; Emily O’Brien; Christine Opperman; Ruth Sahhar; and Sol Sahhar.

Acceptance of the apologies was moved by Adam Thrussell, seconded and carried.

4. Minutes of Annual Business Meeting held on Sunday 28 October 2018

Approval of the minutes was moved by Graeme Shaw, seconded and carried.
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5. Annual Reports and Financial Statements

Approval and adoption of the Board of Management Report was moved by Rae Anstee, seconded 
and carried.  

Approval and adoption of the following Financial Statements for the Board of Management: The 
Scots’ Church General Fund ABN 94965075115: Annual Report for the Financial Year Ended 30 
June 2019; The Scots’ Church Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund: Annual Report for 
the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2019; The Scots’ Church Investment & Special Purposes Fund: 
Annual Report for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2019; and The Scots’ Church – Indonesian 
Christian Church: Special Purpose Financial Report for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 
2018; was moved consecutively by Jim Nuske, seconded and carried.

Approval and adoption of the Treasurers Report was moved by James Nuske, seconded and 
carried. 

Approval and adoption of the Assembly Hall Management Committee Report was moved by 
Douglas Sherman, seconded and carried.

Approval and adoption of the Scots’ Church Board of Management Limited Report was moved 
by James Nuske, seconded and carried.

Approval and adoption of the St Stephens’ Flemington Board of Management Report and 
financial statement for the year ended 30 June 2018 was moved by James Nuske, seconded and 
carried.

Approval and adoption of the Presbyterian and Scots’ Church Joint Mission Report and financial 
statement for the year ended 30 June 2019 was moved by Rae Anstee, seconded and carried.

Approval and adoption of the Scots’ Church Properties Trust Report and financial statements for 
the Scots’ Church Property Trust and Scots’ Church Minor Trusts for the year ended 30 June 2019, 
was moved by James Nuske, seconded and carried.

Approval and adoption of the Presbyterian Women’s Missionary Union Report and Financial 
Statement for the year ended 30 June 2019 was moved by Judith Kilmartin, seconded and 
carried.

6. Appointment of Auditors

The appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors for the Board of Management was 
moved by Rae Anstee, seconded and carried.

The appointment of DFK BKM Audit Services as auditors for The Scots’ Church Properties Trust 
was moved by James Nuske, seconded and carried. 
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7. Annual Charge Report to the Presbyterian Church of Victoria:

The Church Administrator went through the Annual Charge Report. Questions were raised and 
addressed about the report.

Approval and adoption of the Annual Charge Report was moved by Rae Anstee, seconded and 
carried.

8. Approval of Board of Management Positions for Nomination and Election in 2019.

The proposal to increase the number of positions available for nomination and election this 
year from seven to 10 positions to be approved by the Annual Business Meeting was moved by 
Douglas Sherman, seconded and carried.

9. Kirk Session Review

The noting of the Kirk Session Review was moved by Adam Thrussell, seconded and carried.

Other Committees and Congregational Bodies

The noting of the following reports: Choir Report: Christian Education Committee; Cradle Roll; 
Fund Raising committee Report; History and Archives Committee Report; Outreach Committee; 
Pastoral care Committee; Planned Giving Committee Report; Property Committee Report; Social 
Hour and Information Table Report; and Sunday School Report was moved by Graeme Shaw, 
seconded and carried.

10. Report on the Scots’ Church Precinct by the Treasurer

The Treasurer, James Nuske, provided a report of the status and usage of the Scots’ Church 
Precinct. He thanked the Church Administrator, Sebert Ruddock, and the Accountant, Murray 
Hirst, for their support.

11. Closure of the meeting

Rae Anstee thanked the Rev. Douglas Robertson for his leadership as Senior Minister which was 
approved by acclamation.

The meeting concluded with the singing of a hymn and the benediction.
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2 .  A dM i n i st r At i v e  de tA i l s

Con tAc t  in f or M At i on

The Scots’ Church Melbourne,
156 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria, 3000
Tel: (03) 9650 9903 or (03) 9650 9904 Fax:  (03) 9654 3982
Email:  admin@scotschurch.com  Web: www.scotschurch.com

T h e Mi n i s t e r s

Interim Moderator      Term

Rev Philip Court          2020- 

Senior Minister

Rev Douglas Robertson               2000-2020

Minister, Central Business District

Rev Richard O’Brien              2003–2020

Minister, Pastoral Care

Rev Litha Heshusius         2020- 

Minister, Indonesian Christian Church

Rev Christian Tirtha         2015- 

Minister, St Stephen’s Flemington

Mr Andrew Wong          2020-

Missioner, Presbyterian and Scots’ Church Joint Mission    

Mr Andrew Wong          2019-

Ch u rc h A dM i n i s t r At i on

Administrator      Term

Mr. Sebert Ruddock          2015- 

Director of Music

Mr. Douglas Lawrence AM         1984- 

Assistant Organist

Ms. Ria Angelika Polo         2015-

Secretary

Mrs. Wendy Gregory         2013- 
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Welcome Desk Attendant

Mr. Ken Bowden         2019- 

Building Officer

Mr. Rick Holt          2006- 

Accountant

Mr. Murray Hirst         2012-

Operations Manager

Mr. Jonathan North         2011- 

Editor of ‘The Leaflet’

Ms Rosalie Strother         2009- 

Auditors

Deloitte ToucheTohmatsu – Board of Management
DFK BKM Audit Services - The Scots’ Church Properties Trust.

T h e K i r K  se s s i on

Elder Church Term

Miss D. Rae Anstee AM  DSJ Scots’ 1983–

Mrs Helen A. Holman Scots’ 1983–
Dr Charles C. Castle Scots’ 1987–
Mr Gordon Taylor Scots’ 1987–
Mr Stewart Banks * Scots’ 1993-
Mr Bruce C. Evans Scots’ 1993–
Mr Graham Nixon Scots’ 1993–
Mrs Lois Taylor Scots’ 1993–
Mrs Shirley Kelham* St Stephen’s 1993–
Mrs Betty Harding St Stephen’s 1998–2019 
Mr Brian Bayston OAM* Scots’ 2003–
Mr Graeme Harris Scots’ 2003–
Mr Barry Kilmartin Scots’ 2003–
Mr Robert Lowe Scots’ 2003–
Mr Harold Burge St Stephen’s 2005–
Mr Dennis Conradi Scots’ 2005–
Mr Craig McIntosh Scots’ 2005–
Mr James F.  Nuske Scots’ 2005–
Dr Douglas Sherman Scots’ 2005–
Mr Paul Kerss Scots’ 2007–
Dr Sol Sahhar Scots’ 2007–
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Professor Sen Sendjaya Indonesian Christian Church 2010–
Dr Robert Farquharson St Stephen’s 2010–
Mr Ronnie Adahali St Stephen’s 2014–
Mr Jack Laisanna St Stephen’s 2014-
Mr Peter Armstrong Scots’ 2014-
Mr David Gibb Scots’ 2014-
Dr Andrew McDonald Scots’ 2014-
Mr Wayne Truong Scots’ 2014-

Session Clerk
Mr Peter Armstrong Scots’ 11/6/2018-

*Elders Emeritus 
Mr. Stewart Banks, Mr Brian Bayston and Mrs Shirley Kelham are Elders Emeritus. Elders 
Emeritus are not required to attend Session meetings but continue to be recognised as Elders of 
the church..

BoA r d of  M A nAg e M e n t

Elected Board Members        Term
Mrs. Judith Kilmartin         1993-
Mrs. Margaret Conradi         2005-
Mrs. Jodie Tregale          2007-
Mrs. Lillian Chuah          2009-
Mrs. Jennifer Pilgrim         2009-
Dr. Elizabeth Lewis AM         2010-
Miss Lauris Murnane         2010-
Miss Rosalie Strother         2014-
Mrs. Margaret McKenzie Lowe        2016-
Mrs. Danise Sherman         2016-
Mr. Nader Hanna          2016-
Mrs. Elizabeth Charles         2016-
Mrs. Barbara Noisette         2016-
Dr. Caroline Allinson         2017-

Mr Sonal Herlekar was added to the Board by the Session in March 2020.

All elders are ex officio members of the Board of Management.

Office Bearers

Honorary Secretary
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Dr. Douglas Sherman         1997-

Honorary Treasurer
Mr. James F.  Nuske          1997-

Honorary Assistant Treasurer
Mr. Craig McIntosh          2010-

Planned Giving Convener
Mr. Wayne Truong          2018-

T h e s co t s’  ch u rc h ProPe rt i e s  t ru s t

Trustees      Term
Miss D. Rae Anstee AM DSJ        1997-
Mr. James F.  Nuske          1997-
Mr. Bruce Evans          2004-
Mrs. Helen A. Holman         2004-
Mr. Paul Kerss          2008-

Chairman
Mr. Paul Kerss          2018-

S co t s’  ch u rc h boA r d of  M A nAg e M e n t l i M i t e d

Directors      Term
  Mr Craig McIntosh – Chairman        2017-
   Mr Graham Nixon         2017-
   Dr Solomon Sahhar         2017-

Pr e s by t e r i A n A n d s co t s’  ch u rc h Joi n t  Mi s s i on

Secretary      Term
Mrs. Margaret Lowe                2012-2020
Dr Rosemary Fethers         2020-

Treasurer
Mrs. Glenys Wright          2014-
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3 .  r e P ort s  of  gov e r n i ng bodi e s 
3 .1  K i r K  se s s i on r e v i e w

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

This report reviews the life and work of Scots’ Church, Melbourne 
(Scots’ Church) and the congregations within its Charge overseen by 
the Kirk Session (the Session) over the 2019/20 year (the year).

The year started like any other with a full schedule of worship, special 
and musical events.  This was soon to be changed by two major events.  
Firstly, the resignation of the Senior Minister, Rev Douglas Robertson, 

in August 2019 (the Vacancy) and secondly, the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic and 
its impact on our social and economic life (the COVID-19 emergency).  Both these events 
have resulted in significant disruptions to church governance, ministry and worship, and the 
congregational life of the church. This report reflects those impacts.

Governance and oversight

Role of the Kirk Session

Under the rules of the Presbyterian Church of Victoria (PCV), the Session has jurisdiction and 
powers of government, discipline, and oversight over every aspect of the life of the congregations 
in the Charge. It is also required to act as it considers best to protect and promote the welfare of 
the church and its congregations.  Its areas of responsibility include:
 • direct oversight of the Scots’ and the Indonesian Christian Church (ICC) Congregations.
 • oversight, through a Commission of the Session, of St Stephen’s, Flemington (see separate 

report);
 • oversight of all the congregational organisations recognised by the Session for specified 

activities within the life of the congregations;
 • the election of managers to the Board of Management charged with managing the temporal 

affairs of the church;
 • the organisation and management of congregational records, meetings and reports; and
 • the oversight of the Safe Church framework for Scots’ Church and ICC.

The Session is made up of elected elders and the ministers of each congregation in the Charge. 
The Session is usually moderated by the Senior Minister or another minister delegated by him.  
The affairs of the Session are administered by the Session Clerk with the support of the Staff 
where required. 

As at 30 June 2019, there were 22 elected elders.  During the year, Mr Graeme Harris was absent 
with the leave of the Session, and Mr Brian Bayston was appointed as an Elder Emeritus1. On the 
initiation of the Kirk Session, Mr Gordon Taylor was recognised by the 2019 General Assembly 
1  An Elder Emeritus is relieved of their duties as a member of Session but continues to be recognised as an Elder of 
Scots’ Church
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of the Presbyterian Church of Victoria (PCV) for his service to the wider Presbyterian Church as 
an elder with 50 years’ service.  The Kirk Session also recognises the passing and service of Mrs 
Betty Harding, who had been an Elder Emeritus of the Commission of Session for St Stephen’s 
Flemington since 1998.

The business of the Kirk Session

The Kirk Session met 13 times during the year.  Three of the meetings were special meetings 
called to address matters arising from the resignation of Rev Douglas Robertson and the actions 
required to fill the resulting vacancy. One meeting was held by teleconference and two meetings 
on the Zoom video conferencing platform as a result of the COVID-19 emergency.  Attendance 
at meetings, given the circumstances, has been high. A number of decisions, which had to be 
made urgently ((two) or were mainly of an administrative nature (three), were made by circular 
resolution. One of these decisions required further consideration by the Kirk Session as there 
were a number of points of view presented which needed further debate in a meeting setting.

The Session generally considers the following matters at its meetings, other than special meetings 
called to address a specific matter or issue:
 • any relevant correspondence;
 • reports from each minister for the three congregations in the Charge and the pastoral care 

team;
 • reports from representative elders (Presbytery and General Assembly) and convenors of 

standing and ad hoc committees;
 • review and maintenance of the annual events calendar; and
 • items raised by ministers and elders about the life and work of the congregations.

During the year, the Kirk Session considered the following matters:
 • the organisation structure of the congregational bodies and committees for Scots;
 • the strategy for attracting new members, building up the congregation and their engagement, 

and revitalising the church community as identified by the Session and the Five Yearly 
Presbytery Visitation Report;

 • establishment of a governance framework to address the Vacancy under Church rules;
 • review of the rolls of communicant members and adherents and establishment of Electoral 

Registers for the Vacancy;
 • the application of Safe Church requirements and policies for the Scots’ and ICC congregations 

including organisation, compliance, and training;
 • participation, as part of the PCV, in the national redress scheme for institutional child sexual 

abuse;
 • engagement of women in positions of authority in the Church having regard to current 

Church rules; establishment of a governance structure to manage the evolving COVID-19 
emergency and oversight of that structure; and

 • Presbyterian Church-wide issues and their implications for the Scots’ Church congregations.
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Governance structures and arrangements in place to support the oversight of the Kirk Session

The Kirk Session currently has the following standing committees in place to manage particular 
aspects of Church governance:  

Committee Purpose Chair/Convenor No. of 
members

Staffing To consider and make recommendations 
to Session on any Staffing matters

Rev Philip Court in his 
capacity as Interim 
Moderator

6

Pastoral Care To visit the sick, visit the housebound, visit 
those in nursing homes and/or hospitals. 

Mr David Gibb 13

Outreach To support selected projects and 
initiatives, assisting individuals or groups 
within Victoria, across Australia or 
beyond.

Miss Rae Anstee 15

During the year, an ad hoc committee set up to search for suitable candidates for the next Turnbull 
Trust Preacher, completed its work and was disbanded. The following ad hoc committees are 
currently in place:

Committee Purpose Convenor/Chair No. of 
members

Strategy To identify and seek solutions to the 
challenges facing the congregations in 
the Charge to ensure a sustainable future

Mr Robert Lowe 8

Ordination of 
Women Elders

To investigate the biblical context and 
viewpoints of the ordination of women 
elders 

Mr Charles Castle 5

Major issues addressed by the standing and ad hoc committees during the year included:
 • the strategic and congregational development needs arising from the Presbytery Five Yearly 

Visitation Report (Strategy);
 • finalisation of the revitalisation of the Wool Corner and other promotional initiatives 

(Strategy);
 • impact of the COVID-19 emergency on their areas of responsibility (Pastoral Care and 

Staffing); and
 • responses to questions from the Ad hoc Committee on Women’s Ministries formed by the 

2019 PCV General Assembly and the status of the development of a report for broader 
discussion at an appropriate time on the Ordination of Women Elders in the PCV(Ordination 
of Women Elders).

Special bodies created during the year

The Kirk Session established a Commission of the Session on 17 March 2020 to manage the 
impacts of the COVID-19 emergency.  The Commission is made up of the Interim Moderator, the 
Session Clerk, the Secretary of the Board of Management, the Treasurer and the Ministry Team.  
Advisers have also been co-opted to the Commission to ensure the Commission has appropriate 
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advice on medical, administrative, music and pastoral care matters.  The Commission met on 
nine occasions during the year and made decisions on the following issues:

guiding principles to be applied by the Commission and Scots’ Church generally in responding 
to the medical emergency and the restrictions on gatherings and social contact which have 
resulted;
 • the suspension of Church activities involving gatherings and face to face contact and 

continuation of as many activities as possible by alternative means;
 • the management of Staff activities;
 • maintenance of pastoral care activities and pastoral presence; and
 • promotion of ongoing donations and giving.

The Congregations in the Charge established a Selection Committee to submit names for a call 
to fill the Vacancy.  While this Committee was established by the Congregations in the Charge, 
under Church rules, the Committee reports to the Session.  The members of the Committee are:
 • Convenor: Rev Philip Court as Interim Moderator;
 • appointed by the Session: Mr Robert Lowe; Mr Graham Nixon; Mr James Nuske;
 • appointed by the Scots’ Church congregation: Dr Rosemary Fethers (Secretary of the 

Committee); Dr Caroline Allinson; Dr Elizabeth Lewis;
 • appointed by St Stephen’s Flemington congregation: Dr Robert Farquharson; and
 • appointed by the ICC: Professor Sen Sendjaya.

The Committee had its first meeting on 1 March 2020 and met six times and considered eight 
potential candidates.  At the time of writing the Committee had one candidate under further 
consideration.

The Safe Church Framework

The Safe Church framework is an integral part of our church governance and is part of our 
commitment to ensure our church is a safe place for everyone, especially children. On 11 
December, Mr Jonathan North was appointed to replace Mrs Alison Robertson as the Safe Church 
representative for Scots’ Church and the ICC.  This role coordinates the training, conduct and 
regulatory requirements of the Safe Church framework and relevant legislative and regulatory 
requirements. The Safe Church framework, including the formation of a Safe Church Unit, was 
established by the PCV in 2013 and Scots’ Church is an active and diligent participant in the 
framework. We would like to take this opportunity to thank Mrs Robertson for her service as the 
inaugural Safe Church representative.

Scots’ Church currently has 95 staff and volunteers who are required to have a Working with 
Children Check authorisation (WWCC), including elders, Sunday school teachers, Staff, and 
others.   The PCV Safe Church Unit has provided an abundance of resources, including Basic 
Safe Church Training and Advanced Safe Church Training.   All our staff and volunteers who 
hold a WWCC are required to attend the basic training.   Elders and bible study leaders are 
required to attend the advanced training. Maintenance of these requirements is a substantial 
and ongoing task, and we are grateful to Mr North in taking on this challenge.  
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During the year, the Kirk Session put in place a procedure for handling any matters which 
could constitute a breach of the Safe Church Code of Conduct or any reportable incident 
under Victorian legislation. The Kirk Session has also put in place an annual review of these 
requirements to take place in June of each year.

Following approval by congregational meetings, Scots’ Church is also participating as part 
of the PCV in the National Redress Scheme on Child Sexual Abuse.  It should be noted that 
organisations who chose not to participate in the scheme are being subjected to governmental 
scrutiny and adverse publicity.

Participation in the wider church

Over the year, the Session was represented in the Presbytery of Melbourne West by Mr Dennis 
Conradi (with Mr Bruce Evans as alternate representative).  Additionally, Dr Robert Farquharson 
(St Stephen’s) is an appointed parity elder to Presbytery. Elders commissioned to the General 
Assembly of the Presbyterian Church of Victoria (PCV) are Mr Graham Nixon (Scots’ Church) 
and Dr Robert Farquharson (St Stephen’s).  The Session also nominates representatives on the 
Presbyterian and Scots’ Church Joint Mission Committee. Our current representatives are Dr 
Rosemary Fethers (Secretary of the Committee); Mr Harold Burge and Mrs Norma Tjoeka.   Ms 
Meilie Houghton, unfortunately, found it necessary to resign from the Committee during the 
year due to ill health and we thank her for her service.

The following members and ministers of Scots’ Church have also been actively involved in PCV 
Committees and bodies:

Church & Nation Committee:  Mr John Ballantyne
Health & Community Chaplaincy Committee:  Mrs Rosemary O’Brien
Social Services Committee:  Mr Dennis Conradi, Mr Bruce Evans, Mr Greg Hamilton, Dr 
Elizabeth Lewis, Mrs Jenny Pilgrim, Ms Rosalie Strother (resigned January 2020)
St Andrews Foundation:  Mrs Margaret Conradi, Rev Richard O’Brien
The following members are also serving in roles for the Presbytery:
Assessor Elder to Gisborne Session:  Mr Dennis Conradi
Students’ Credentials & Care Committee:  Dr Robert Farquharson

The Ministry

The year has been a particularly challenging one for the ministry team impacted not only by 
the Vacancy and the COVID-19 emergency but by illness.  As a result, the ministry team has had 
to take on additional responsibilities and find new ways of delivering God’s Word, for which we 
are grateful.

It was with regret that we learned, in August 2019, of the intention of Rev Douglas Robertson 
to resign to take up a new call to Crown Church in Inverness in January 2020. For his 19 years 
as Senior Minister and an association which goes back to into the early 1990s, Scots’ Church is 
indebted to Douglas for his leadership and ministry.
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Following notification of the intended resignation of Rev Douglas Robertson, the Presbytery 
appointed Rev Philip Court as Interim Moderator Designate. He became Interim Moderator2 
on 10 January 2020 when the Vacancy commenced with responsibility for the Charge until the 
Vacancy is filled.  

Rev Christian Tirtha and Rev Richard O’Brien continued in their roles as Minister for the ICC 
and Minister for the CBD respectively. Mr Andrew Wong, who had initially been appointed in 
February 2019 as Missioner for the Presbyterian and Scots Church Joint Mission for one day 
a week, was appointed in January 2020 as a full-time home missionary in the dual roles of 
Missioner and Minister to St Stephen’s Flemington. Mr Wong has now completed his theological 
studies and ministry training, and the Kirk Session has applied, with Presbytery approval, to the 
PCV’s Exit Committee and is hopeful Andrew might be appointed as a licentiate to the two roles 
he has been fulfilling as a home missionary.

As part of his role as Interim Moderator, Rev Philip Court organised a program of guest preachers 
which is continuing at the time of writing. This program provided the congregations with an 
opportunity to experience a range of preaching styles and approach to ministry.  Guest preachers 
from January through to June were: Rev Mike Raiter; Rev David Cook; Rev Professor Robert 
Gribben; Rev Peter Adam; Rev David Jones; Rev Murray Capill; and Rev David Burke. While the 
COVID-19 emergency has prevented gathered public worship since mid-March, worship services 
have continued via pre-recorded audio.  In most cases, our guest preachers filled the pulpit for 
blocks of a month at a time.  We are grateful for their support during the Vacancy.

Rev Philip Court has also led the congregation in worship on significant occasions including 
Palm Sunday and Easter Sunday (via pre-recorded video).  The other members of the ministry 
team have also provided ministry support across the Charge as needed.

It was with great sadness that we learned of Rev Richard O’Brien’s illness which has resulted in 
him taking leave of absence since late April. We wish Richard and his family all the best in this 
difficult time.

Rev Richard O’Brien’s leadership of pastoral care has been a fundamental pillar of the Scots’ 
Church ministry. Rev Litha Heshusius has been engaged temporarily to fill the gap arising from 
Richard’s absence to ensure that the church maintains a strong pastoral care presence in this 
challenging time.

We are extremely grateful to Rev Philip Court and the ministry team for supporting and guiding 
the Charge during this time. It has not been short on complexity or difficulties and has involved 
taking on additional responsibilities and has required innovative and forward thinking in 
maintaining an effective ministry.

2  Supported under Church rules by Rev Chris Duke (Essendon and Clifton Hill) and  Rev Adam Humphries (Darebin)
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The Congregations (Scots’ and ICC)

As at 30 June 2020, there were 225 communicant members in the Scots’ congregation and    120 
communicant members and 30 adherents in the ICC. The age profile of the congregations is 
also set out below.

Age Group Scots ICC
46-65+ 66% 16%
18-46 25% 65%
0-17 9% 19%

During the year the Kirk Session undertook a review of the rolls of communicants and adherents 
which resulted in a number of members and adherents being removed from the rolls as they 
no longer have a strong connection to the church and commitment to fulfilling their duties as a 
member or adherent.  The review of the rolls was particularly important this year in establishing 
the Electoral Registers for the Vacancy.

There were a number of deaths, transfers to other congregations, and new members. Details of 
these changes are set out in Appendix A to this report together with the list of Baptisms which 
occurred during the year and the status of the Cradle Roll. It is with regret that we have not 
been able to practically hold funeral services in the Church since restrictions were imposed 
in response to the COVID-19 medical emergency.  It is hoped that at some stage when social 
gatherings of sufficient size are permissible a Memorial Service will be able to be held for those 
members who passed away during the pandemic without a service in the church.

Average attendance at Sunday morning services (based on the 2019 calendar year statistics)3  
were 188 participants at Scots and 138 participants at the ICC. Average attendance at Scots’ 
Sunday evening services (based on the 2019 calendar year statistics) was 27 participants. 

Celebration of the Lord’s Supper (Holy Communion) took place at Scots’ Sunday morning 
services on three occasions during the year. The scheduled communion services for Easter 
Sunday and the first Sunday in June 2020 were not able to proceed due to the impact of the 
COVID-19 medical emergency.  The Kirk Session decided, following advice, that the celebration 
of the Lord’s Supper should not proceed until it can be celebrated as intended in a gathering.

During the year, four congregational meetings were approved and called by the Session.  They 
were:
 • 28 August 2019 - The approval of participation in the National Redress Scheme for Child 

Sexual Abuse (Scots’ and ICC).
 • 9 September 2019 – Meeting called by Presbytery to discuss the resignation of the Rev. 

Douglas Robertson (Scots’ and ICC).
 • 27 October 2019 - The Annual Business Meeting of the congregations (Scots’ and ICC).
 • 9 February 2020 – Meeting to approve the terms of Settlement for the Vacancy; determine 

whether a Selection Committee should be formed; and if so, the appointment of members 
from Scots’, ICC, and St Stephen’s.

3  Note these numbers do not reflect the impact of the COVID-19 emergency and prohibition/limitations on public 
worship which occurred in 2020
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Congregational Life

A number of special services were held during the year.  The Foundation Day Service on 9 
February 2020 brought together all the congregations in the Charge following the introduction 
of this initiative in 2018. There were over 300 attendees at the service with contributions from all 
congregations, followed by lunch, making it an important and fun day in the Scots’ Church Calendar.  
 
Mission Sunday was held on 27 October 2019 in conjunction with the Annual Business Meeting, 
with Lexie Kellar Sheard from TEAR as the guest speaker. The Kirkin’ of the Tartans service was 
held on 21 July 2019 and the Grand Final Service on 25 September 2019.  

As part of broader city life and engagement, Scots’ participated in the Open House program for 
the 10th year and has been recognised as one of the most visited sites in the program with over 
3,000 visitors each year.  Scots’ also hosted 14 weddings during the year with nine marriages 
conducted by our ministry team. As a result of the COVID-19 emergency, the availability of the 
Church for weddings since mid-March 2020 has been limited

We are blessed to have a vibrant music program across all congregations. The music program 
under the directorship of Douglas Lawrence AM, in particular, adds value to worship on a 
weekly basis (Scots’ morning service) and attracts a wider audience through special events.  
Major music events held as part of worship services include the Cantata program (held on 10 
November 2019) and special programs for Holy Week and Easter Sunday. Regrettably, the Holy 
Week and Easter Sunday programs were not able to proceed due to the COVID-19 emergency. 

Other special musical events during the year included a highly acclaimed performance of 
Handel’s Messiah (20 December 2019) and the Big Hymn Sing (21 June 2020). The Messiah 
attracted over 400 people on one of the hottest nights in Melbourne. The Big Hymn Sing was 
broadcast via YouTube due to COVID19 and attracted a substantial audience. 

A highly successful and moving lunch was held on 15 December 2019 to farewell Rev Douglas 
Robertson and Mrs Alison Robertson and convey the gratitude of the congregations for their 
service.  The lunch included testimonials from Miss Rae Anstee AM, as former Session Clerk and 
Chairman of the Scots’ Church Properties Trust, Rev John Wilson, Clerk of the General Assembly 
of the PCV, and Rev Philip Court as both Interim Moderator Designate and Moderator of the 
Presbytery of Melbourne West.
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Active Congregational Groups (Scots and Indonesian Congregations)

Active groups this year included:

Group No of Groups No. of participants4

PMWU (Scots’) 1 20

Christianity Explained (ICC) 1 35

Bible Study (Scots’) 1 25

Bible Study (ICC) 7 50

Prayer Groups (Scots’) 2               25

Prayer Groups (ICC) 2 50

Sunday School (Scots’) 1 9

Sunday School (ICC) 1 26

Young Adults (ICC) 1 25

Bible study and prayer groups in many cases have continued to operate via electronic media 
during the COVID-19 emergency with substantial innovation and creative thinking going into 
keeping these important aspects of church life alive.

Other fundraising and community engagement activities undertaken included the work of the 
Outreach Committee, the Sausage Sizzle Group and Project Kin.  The COVID-19 emergency; 
however, has significantly impacted all of these activities.

Notes of appreciation

While thanks have been given at appropriate points in this report, I would like to record a 
number of further notes of appreciation.

The Kirk Session is most grateful to all conveners and organisers of congregational groups and 
rosters for their commitment and dedication in serving Scots’ Church through the year. We are 
indebted to Elders and members of the Board of Management; these people quietly help and 
support the work of Scots’ Church.

We give thanks for the expert and practical advice provided by Dr Rosemary Fethers (medical); 
Mr Jonathon North (administration); Mr Douglas Lawrence AM (music) and Rev Richard 
O’Brien/Rev Litha Heshusius (pastoral care) in supporting the management of the COVID-19 
emergency. 

Our thanks also go to the Choir who have provided us with great joy in the music they have 
performed and to the Staff who are a loyal and enthusiastic team caring for the day to day 
management and maintenance of the Church and the Assembly Hall. The COVID-19 emergency 
has particularly impacted both the Choir and Staff, and we thank them for their willingness to 
try new things and do things differently (such as working from home and pre-recording music), 
so we can continue to maintain our congregational life in these difficult circumstances.

Our special thanks also go to Mrs Eileen Bowden, Mrs Helen Holman and Mrs Margaret Conradi 

4  From 2019 PCV Statistical Return



17

in supporting the Holy Communion Services held at Scots’ during the year. These services require 
substantial organisation and work, and it is a tribute to those involved that these services work 
well and are seamless. 

The challenges ahead

Our major challenges at the time of writing are filling the Senior Minister position so that Scots’ 
Church has the leadership it needs to go forward through the 21st century, and working through 
the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 emergency on public worship and congregational life.
 • The challenges identified in last year’s report also remain with us:
 • growing and integrating our three congregations as a strong voice for Christian life in the 

City of Melbourne;
 • as a significant church in both numbers and history, continuing to contribute to the wider 

Presbyterian Church;
 • the development and active implementation of strategies to rebuild the Scots’ congregation 

and revitalise its services and ministry;
 • ensuring we provide and maintain a safe church environment; and
 • ensuring that our congregations are strong spiritually and temporally, both operating 

efficiently and effectively and modelling and living our Christian values.

Peter Armstrong
Session Clerk
31 July 2020
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APPe n di x  A 

Changes in the composition of the Scots and Indonesian Congregations during the 
year

Scots’ Congregation

New Members
 • Andrew Satterley
 • Douglas John Robertson
 • Sonal Herlekar
 • Franklin Richard
 • Shirley Ruth Robert
 • Sirisha Joel
 • Stallone Joel Purushottam

Transfers to other congregations
 • Douglas Jackson. 
 • Janet Jackson. 
 • Douglas Robertson 
 • Alison Robertson

Transfers from other congregations
 • Nil

Deaths  
 • Ronald Robert Myerscough – 19 July 2019
 • Ian George Scott – 21 July 2019
 • Jennifer Mary Young – 12 September 2019
 • Sheila Calladine – 2 January 2020
 • Andrew Stewart Kemp AM – 3 April 2020
 • Egbert Ekkel – 20 May 2020

Indonesian Congregation

New members
 • Helena Agnes
 • Luciana Yudha Charissa
 • Josephine Darmawan
 • Josephine Daniella
 • Jessica Delphina
 • Yohana Dianwidi
 • Tiana Elisabeth Alisa
 • Marvella Ester
 • Harry Harry
 • Rebecca Azary Kuncoro
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 • Andrew Listiandi
 • Amazia Pravianti Tanuatmadja
 • Gabriela Fannia Rahardja
 • Jessica Yan Setiawan
 • Moses Sitompul
 • Kharisma Muliani Tanu
 • Patrick Waliry
 • Jeffrey Wangsadipura
 • Nelly Cemerlang

Transfers to other congregations
 • Nil

Transfers from other congregations
 • Nil

Deaths
 • Nil

Baptisms registered during the year

Scots congregation

 • Nil

Indonesian Congregation

 • Nadia Clarissa Budiman (Adult) 
 • Julianus Adam Fidelis (Adult) 
 • Steven Tjahjadi (Adult) 
 • Adeline Grace Sentosa – born 25/06/2019

Cradle Roll (Scots’)

There were 16 children on the Cradle Roll at the end of the year. During the past year, one name 
has been added to the Roll and six names removed. On reaching four years of age, a child’s 
name is removed from the Roll, and most children are ready to begin Sunday School. Children 
receive a card on their birthday.
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3 .2  boA r d of  M A nAg e M e n t

The Board of Management looks after the business and property 
matters of the church.  It is comprised of the elders, the trustees and 
several elected “managers”.  Managers are elected for two years but are 
eligible to stand for re-election at the end of that time.

At the beginning of 20201 the elected Board members were:

Caroline Allinson21 Judith Kilmartin21 Barbara Noisette20

Elizabeth Charles20 Elizabeth Lewis21 Jennifer Pilgrim20

Lillian Chuah20 Margaret Lowe21 Danise Sherman21

Margaret Conradi20 Lauris Murnane21 Rosalie Strother20

Nader Hanna21 Jodi Tregale20

Note: members whose term expires at the end of 2020 are marked with the superscript20 whilst those whose term expires 
at the end of 2021 are marked with the superscript21.

At the beginning of 2020, the following people were elected to the positions of officers and 
committee convenors shown in the table below:

Secretary Dr D Sherman
Treasurer & Finance Committee Convenor Mr J Nuske
Assistant Treasurer Mr C. McIntosh
Housekeeping Mrs M. Conradi
Planned Giving Mr W. Truong
Fund Raising Convenor Mr D Conradi with assistants
History and Archives Convenor Mrs J Kilmartin
Property Convenor Mr D Conradi

There is also a strategy committee which is a joint committee of Session and the Board of 
Management to consider changes in the church and its services that may widen its appeal to 
the community.  The Senior Minister is the chairman.

The committees make a significant contribution to the work of the Board and the Church.  
Reports of the work of each committee will be found separately in the annual report.  

The vacancy: This year has been a highly significant year in many ways but, for the church, it 
is most significant in that Rev Douglas Robertson demitted his position as senior minister at the 
end of December.  The Presbytery appointed Rev Philip Court to be Interim Moderator whilst 
the church seeks a new senior minister.  Phil Court continued the appointments of Rev Richard 
O’Brien and Rev Christian Tirtha as assistant ministers and has been arranging for ministry 
supply during the vacancy.  The Board meets the cost of pulpit supply and, where applicable, the 
costs of travel and accommodation for visiting ministers.

Some of the other items considered by the whole Board are discussed in the rest of this report.

Ownership of Assembly Hall: Following the court case, the PCV has been left with a 37% 

1  Mr Sonal Herlekar was added to the Board by the Session in March 2020.
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ownership of Assembly Hall for the purposes of Home Missions, whilst the Board of Management 
holds the remaining 63% for congregational purposes2.  The PCV committees that represent 
Home Missions have indicated that they would like Board of Management to purchase the PCV 
share of Assembly Hall.  A sub-committee of the Board’s Finance Committee has been formed 
to investigate ways in which this might be done.  The Board’s part ownership of Assembly Hall is 
invested in a corporate trustee, the Board of Management Ltd, a company limited by guarantee.  
This is a distinct entity from the Board of Management itself.  Its present chairman is Mr Craig 
McIntosh.

Some parts of Assembly Hall are rented out on a commercial basis.  The main halls are used 
by the church, the PCV and some non-denominational and missionary groups, mostly without 
charge.  When not otherwise required the halls are available on a commercial basis for training 
courses and meetings.  The PCV Church and Nation Committee recently held a colloquium 
over 3 days, which drew large numbers of people.  Another of the uncharged uses of Assembly 
Hall is by the PLC.  The Year 9 girls from the PLC use the Scots’ Church Assembly Hall as their 
home-base for their Year 9 Outlook City program for a week in November.  The College states 
that, “The program is a valuable & worthwhile part of the Year 9 syllabus and enables the girls to 
engage with services, resources and education experiences in Melbourne’s CBD.  Our classroom 
base at the Scots’ Church provides a secure place of refuge and belonging for almost 165 girls 
at different times of the day.”

Presbyterian Inland mission:  We received a letter from the Presbyterian Inland Mission 
asking for support for Rev Kim Jaeger, who is ministering as a PIM Patrol in the midlands area 
and North West corner of Tasmania.  The PIM is a ministry of the Presbyterian Church of Australia.  
Like the RFDS, it was begun by the Rev John Flynn and so has an historic connection with The 
Scots’ Church.  The Board of Management donated $1000 to Kim and the Outreach Committee 
also donated $1000 to this appeal.  Subsequently the Board donated $15,000 to the PIM.

Royal Flying Doctor Service:  The Board supported the RFDS with a donation of $15,000 
for speech pathology services.  It may surprise that one of the skills of speech pathologists is to 
assist people—especially very old people—who are having difficulty swallowing.

Joint PCV / Scots’ Church Mission at Flemington:  Due to shortages of donated money and 
foodstuffs, the Mission approached us for assistance.  We agreed to make six donations of $3000 
each at six month intervals to assist the mission in purchasing food for those in need.  

Rev Phil Court asked that Andrew Wong be appointed as an assistant at Flemington.  He would 
be both minister to the Flemington congregation and missioner for the joint mission.  Previously 
the congregation of St Stephen’s has paid 60% of the minister’s salary and the Flemington Mission 
has paid the remaining 40%.  But the loss of capital by the Mission means that they are only able 
to pay 20% of the salary so the Board agreed to pay the remaining 20% for the next year.

Indigenous Students at PLC:  As for the past few years, the Board has paid for 3 or 4 half 
scholarships to enable indigenous students to study at PLC with a view to assist development 
2  The strict definitions of these purposes come from the “sixthly” provision of the Scots Church Properties Trusts Act.
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of Christian leadership within the indigenous community.  A report from the teacher mentoring 
indigenous students at PLC stated, “What has been achieved through the scholarships has been 
ground-breaking for these girls. They and their families are the first to admit the impact PLC has 
had on their lives for good, and admire the generosity extended to them.  We cannot thank you 
enough!”.

Electronic Payments to the Church:  With the rapid decline in the use of cash in our society, 
discussions have been held with our bankers on the use of electronic devices that are available 
to accept payments from credit cards.  We have purchased a device that will enable card 
payments at the sausage sizzle or for donations made during the week at the welcome desk.

The web site (Scotschurch.com):  It is very pleasing that Jonathan North has received valuable 
assistance from Mr Nader Hanna in replacing the Church’s website. The previous version was 
well past its use-by date!  Ongoing work is now being carried out by Jonathan, assisted by Monty 
Chandra and Keenan North.  Jonathan is seeking feed-back from congregation members on 
their experience with using the new website and in the main, the comments have been positive.  
With the COVID-19 lockdown, the website has become a critical issue.  Some services are now 
being streamed via YouTube.

The Big Hymn Sing:  With the cancellation of services in the lockdown, the Big Hymn Sing has 
been produced as a YouTube production paid for from the Margaret Campbell bequest.

Douglas Sherman 
(Honorary Secretary)
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3 .3  st.  st e Ph e n’s  Pr e s by t e r i A n ch u rc h, 
f l e M i ngt on

Employment of New Minister- Andrew Wong

I (Andrew Wong) commenced employment as the Minister for St. 
Stephen’s Presbyterian Church in January on a one-year contract with 
the hope that I will be exited to this Congregation. My employment 
is shared with the Presbyterian and Scot’s Church Joint Mission on a 
60/40 agreement.

Government, discipline and oversight

Since October 2013, the government, discipline and oversight of the congregation of St

Stephen’s Flemington has been vested in a Commission of the Kirk Session. It was established 
“for the purpose of exercising all the powers and discharging all the duties of the Session in 
relation to St Stephen’s Flemington.”

The Commission consists of the Moderator, Andrew Wong, and Elders of St Stephen’s; Mr. Ronnie 
Adahali, Mr. Harold Burge, Dr. Robert Farquharson (Commission Clerk) and Mr. Jack Laisanna. 
The Moderator is responsible for reporting on its proceedings to the Kirk Session.

The congregation also has one Elder Emeritus; Mrs. Shirley Kelham.

The congregation is represented in the Presbytery of Melbourne West and the General Assembly 
of Victoria by Dr. Robert Farquharson who has been appointed by Presbytery as a Parity Elder.

Board of Management

A Board of Management is responsible for the temporal affairs of the congregation. It meets bi-
monthly. It consists of 3 elected Managers plus the four active Elders and the Minister.

In 2020, its membership is as follows:

Delegated Chairman:   Mr. Andrew Wong
Secretary:     Dr. Bob Farquharson
Assistant Secretary:   Ms. Fiona Laisanna
Treasurer / Property Manager: Dr. Bob Farquharson
Assistant Treasurer:   Miss Allison Hurse (Deceased June 2020)
Property Manager:   Mr. Harold Burge 
Assistant Property Manager:  Mr. Ronnie Adahali 
Managers:     Mr. Jack Laisanna
      Mr. Peter Saxon 
      Mrs. Nurma Tjoeka.
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Congregation

The most recent Statistical Return (for the 2019 calendar year) reported the congregation to be 
58 Communicants and 5 Adherents. We are saddened by the loss of John Dewys, Betty Harding 
and Allison Hurse. We are thankful for their faithfulness and commitment to the church in many 
ways.

Annual Congregational Meeting

The most recent Annual Congregation Meeting was held on Sunday 13 October 2019, with 28 
people attending. Amongst other things:
 • Dennis K Wright and Associates was appointed as auditor for 2019/20;
 • The Annual Report of the Board of Management was received and approved;
 • The Annual Charge Report was approved; and
 • The audited financial statements were received and adopted.
 • Mrs. Yvonne Farquharson gave a report as the Safe Church Representative.  St
 • Stephen’s is fully compliant with all mandated Safe Church training.

Congregational life

For the last half of 2019, services were led by various guest preachers as well as one of our elders, 
Dr. Bob Farquharson. I began leading all the services from the beginning of January although 
my contract did not begin until two weeks later. I preached on various topical sermons as well 
as doing a short series on the book of Nehemiah, which we will finish on a later date. Recently 
we have been going through the Gospel of Mark- The Suffering Victorious Servant King.

Due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, we had our last physical service on the 22nd  March 2020. Since 
then we have had to transition to online material. I prepare recorded sermons and songs for 
Sunday Mornings as well as Morning Devotions at 9:40am going through the Psalms and various 
topics. On Thursday nights we have a bible study on the Gospel of John using material from 
the Word 121. This is all conducted over YouTube. Kid’s church has been suspended till further 
notice and I prepare Children material for the parents to lead their kids using material from The 
Gospel Project.

On average prior to Coronavirus Pandemic we could see up to 50 people coming to our Sunday 
Service.

Reflections:

This past year has been a rollercoaster for the congregation: a year of vacancy followed by a 
new minister and now the COVID-19 Pandemic. This past year reflects the reality of life and 
ministry. There is a lot of uncertainty for the future, but God is faithful, and he provides in the 
right time. I pray the same prayer as Paul for the church of Ephesus for St Stephen’s as well as 
the wider congregation of Scot’s church.
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“14 For this reason I bow my knees before the Father, 15 from whom every family in heaven and on 
earth is named, 16 that according to the riches of his glory he may grant you to be strengthened 
with power through his Spirit in your inner being, 17 so that Christ may dwell in your hearts through 
faith—that you, being rooted and grounded in love, 18 may have strength to comprehend with all 
the saints what is the breadth and length and height and depth, 19 and to know the love of Christ 
that surpasses knowledge, that you may be filled with all the fullness of God.

20 Now to him who is able to do far more abundantly than all that we ask or think, according to 
the power at work within us, 21 to him be glory in the church and in Christ Jesus throughout all 
generations, forever and ever. Amen. (Ephesians 2:14-21)

Andrew Wong
Minister for St Stephen’s
28 July 2020

3 .4  Pr e s by t e r i A n A n d s co t s’  ch u rc h 
Joi n t  Mi s s i on 

Office Bearers

Chairman: Rev. Philip Court (Interim Moderator)
Vice Chairman: Mrs Margaret Conradi, Appointee of PWMU (Vic.) 
Secretary: Dr Rosemary Fethers, Appointee of Kirk Session
Treasurer: Mrs Glenys Wright, Appointee of Presbytery  
 of the Bounds 

  Assistant Treasurer: Mrs Yvonne Farquharson, Appointee of 
   Presbytery of the Bounds

Committee

Mr Harold Burge  Appointee of Kirk Session
Mrs Nurma Tjoeka  Appointee of Kirk Session

Missioner

Mr Andrew Wong

Vacancies

3 Kirk Session Appointments

The Flemington Mission has had an exciting, varied and productive year. It continues to provide 
support for about 60 people a week from the surrounding areas of Flemington, Kensington and 
North Melbourne and is open on Tuesdays.

During 2019 and the first part of 2020 the Mission held a church service very two weeks, attended 
by 30-40 people. The Mission provided non-perishable food parcels on a fortnightly basis and 
fresh fruit and vegetables on a weekly basis. A substantial morning tea was prepared by the 
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volunteers and everyone enjoyed the opportunity to sit together and socialise. 

The Mission also provides payment relief for medical prescriptions with help from the local 
pharmacy.

In November the Mission contributed to the school fees of two students.

The annual Christmas BBQ on Tuesday 3 December was attended by at least 90 people with 
40 coming to the preceding church service. 150 bags were given out including extra bags of 
Christmas treats. The BBQ was held in a new location under the trees next to the church. The 
Mood Swings - the choir from St Mary’s House of Welcome entertained us again. Several of our 
Tuesday people are members of The Mood Swings.

The Mission has a large number of attendees from Vietnamese and Chinese background so 
a proportion of the food parcels are now put together with this in mind. This has proved very 
successful. Andrew Wong has introduced multilingual Christian pamphlets and Bible readings 
from Our Daily Bread. St Stephen’s provided some Chinese and Vietnamese bibles. Chinese and 
Vietnamese translations of the Tuesday church service bible readings were also made available. 

In March and April 2020 during the first COVID-19 lockdown, the Mission was open only on 
an appointment basis. Supplies became low because of supermarket rationing and inability 
to buy bulk. By May the organisation of the Mission Hall had been restructured for everyone’s 
health and safety and the supplies restocked. On Tuesdays, people would come in one by one, 
collect their parcel and morning tea and sit outside if they wished. It was decided to provide 
non-perishable food parcels plus fruit and vegetables on a weekly basis in these difficult times. 

Unfortunately the bi-annual Mission Church Service had to be cancelled, along with our regular 
Tuesday services. 

Generous donations, together with a COVID Recovery Grant from the Melbourne City Council 
have allowed us to restock with food and purchase the necessary cleaning and health and 
safety products. The Mission is now well prepared for any food and product shortages that may 
eventuate.

Supplies have been ordered on line from Woolworths and delivered every two weeks. 

The Mission was approved in June 2020 to be a partner with Foodbank. This has provided a 
wonderful opportunity to access a large variety of supplies at markedly reduced costs.

July 2020 has seen a second lock down and the Mission has continued to provide weekly food 
parcels but with minimal staff to protect the volunteers.

The Mission Hall has unfortunately developed dangerous structural problems to be dealt with 
in July 2020.

The Mission has been very fortunate to receive many donations, a bequest, a grant and ongoing 
funding. 
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The Mission thanks all the generous and loyal donors of 2019-2020.
Abdul’s Greengrocer, Flemington 
Meilei Houghton 
Brenda and Ian Williams
Merrilyn Murnane and Max Griffiths
Yvonne Sullivan
The Estate of Philippa Millar
Suzanne Driver
Anne Nolan
Suzanne Peake
Jean Staunton
Kathy Gilmore
Jennifer Dunstone
Shirley Kelham
St Andrew’s Church, Reservoir
Balmattum Presbyterian Church
Benalla Presbyterian Church 
Blackburn Presbyterian Church
Kirkbrae Presbyterian Homes
Epping Presbyterian Church 
Scots’ Church, Melbourne
Scots’ Church Properties Trust
St John’s Church Somerville
Surrey Hills Presbyterian Church 
Stanhope Presbyterian Church Ladies’ Guild and PWMU 
Tatura Presbyterian Church 
Thoona Presbyterian Church 
Wyndham Vale Presbyterian Church 
Melton Foodbank 
Melbourne City Council.

Andrew Wong has been inspirational with his unfailing enthusiasm and commitment.

The Flemington Mission thanks all the wonderful volunteers who give their time, cook beautiful 
food and create a happy atmosphere.

Treasurer, Glenys Wright, continues her dedication to the Mission’s financial accounting, 
investments and response to statuary requirements. 

Margaret and Robert Lowe retired from the committee after many years of faithful service, 
Margaret was Secretary and Robert was Assistant Treasurer.

The Mission celebrated the birth of Andrew and Garam’s son Ezra in July 2019.
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All at the Mission were saddened to hear of the death of Trevor, a regular attendee and member 
of The Mood Swings and of Allison Hurse, a long-time volunteer and St Stephen’s member. 

Dr Rosemary Fethers (Committee Secretary)

3 .5  Pr e s by t e r i A n woM e n’s  Mi s s i onA ry 
un i on

Office Bearers
President Mrs. Rosemary O’Brien
Vice President Dr. Merrilyn Murnane
Secretary Mrs. Margaret Lowe
Treasurer Mrs. Judith Kilmartin
Devotions Convenor Mrs. Rosemary O’Brien
Leaflet Contribution Ms Caroline Allinson
PWMU (Vic.) Representative Mrs. Lauris Murnane

 Auditor Mr. Graeme Holman

We were able to complete the latter part of our 2019 program that had been planned and 
enjoyed our Christmas break up where we farewelled our President Mrs. Alison Robertson. 
However 2020 has been disrupted because of the COVID-19 outbreak.

Our membership stands at twenty two and we are once again committed to supporting our 
missionaries both here and overseas.

It was with great sadness that we farewelled our much loved member Mrs. Sheila Calladine who 
passed away on 2nd January 2020.

From last August until March 2020 we have been privileged to hear a range of speakers for 
our monthly meetings as well as being financially supported in October by the Scots’ Church 
monthly sausage sizzle.

In August 2019 our speakers were Rob and Teresa Paix who shared with us many stories from 
their eighteen years as missionaries with Pioneers living with the Uyghur people of northern 
China.

In September the speaker was Rev Matthew James, Chaplain, Kirkbrae Presbyterian Homes. Matt 
told many stories of people in Aged Care and their needs including dementia patients who 
have special requirements that staff are faced with.

At our Annual General Meeting in November we enjoyed hearing Rosemary O’Brien speak 
about her and Richard’s trip to Switzerland earlier in 2019. They first flew into Geneva and 
Rosemary gave us a brief history of the Reformation and showed photos of the Reformation 
Wall. The next stop was Bern, the capital of Switzerland.
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From Bern they caught a train up into the mountains and then a gondola to Murren which has 
a population of just 450. They also visited Zurich and Lucerne.

In February we held a film luncheon where we saw a film entitled “BOY CHOIR” and in March 
our speaker was Mr. Andrew Wong, the newly appointed Missioner at St. Stephen’s Flemington 
who spoke about how the Scots’ Church Mission has been supporting people in need since 
1881.

Andrew said that as well as providing food parcels and financial support the Mission also 
provides emotional, mental and spiritual support by building a community grounded on the 
gospel which is loving and caring.

We thank Lauris Murnane for being our representative at the State Meetings of the PWMU which 
are held in the Robert White Hall.

Our President and Devotions Convenor for last year Mrs. Alison Robertson, chaired our meetings 
with thoughtful and meaningful prayers while Mrs. Rosemary O’Brien chaired our March 
meeting and conducted the devotions.

Many thanks also to Mrs. Rosemary O’Brien, Mrs. Diana Mayne and Mrs. Judith Kilmartin for 
their accompaniment on the piano for our hymns. 

A sincere thank you to Mrs. Judith Kilmartin for her dedication and attention to all financial 
details and investments on behalf of Scots’ PWMU.

 To all those who have supported us during this past year please accept our sincere thanks.

Distribution of funds for 2020

Laszlo and Eva Mihalyi $300
Presbyterian and Scots’ Church Joint Mission $400
Rhys and Rhondda Hall – Pioneers $200
Joy Hill-Pioneers $300
Douglas and Jeanette Bennett – WBT $300
Mr. and Mrs. A Canavan WBT $300
“ORBUS” Development and Aid in Central Africa Ltd. $400
Rev Colin Mbawa APWM $200
Robert and Teresa Paix- Pioneers $300
Mavis Price – WBT $250
Warwick and Natalie Short – SIM $300
Ben and Penny Teng – SIM $250
TOTAL FOR PWMU OFFICE $3500

Presbyterian Inland Mission $400
Rick Holt $50
TOTAL FOR EXTRA CHEQUES $450

GRAND TOTAL OF DISTRIBUTION $3,950

Margaret Lowe (Secretary)
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4 .1  PA s t or A l  cA r e  coM M i t t e e

During the year the Pastoral Care Team have again performed a 
wonderful year’s work during a difficult year with regard to COVID-19. 
I am very pleased with all their efforts.

They have forwarded 43 cards, 26 members attended funerals, made 
177 home visits, 53 hospital visits, 56 nursing home visits, 556 phone 
calls, 467 conversations at Church, 56 sms calls, 158 email/letters, 17 
cradle roll cards, making a total of 1609 contacts during the year. They 
also made 31 Christmas visits during November and December. 

Rev. Richard O’Brien up until his illness completed a wonderful year’s work. Richard’s 
replacement, Rev Litha Heshusius settled in quickly and has performed superbly in her roll 
assisting all. Thank you both for your efforts.

Should you hear of anyone who may require Pastoral Care, please let us know and we will make 
contact with them.  

David Gibb
Convener

4 .2  ou t r e Ac h coM M i t t e e 

The membership of the Outreach Committee has remained steady 
with 15 members throughout the year. We were greatly saddened by 
the death of Bert Ekkel who, together with Jisca, had been a faithful 
member of the Committee for many years until he was unable to 
attend due to ill-health. Our thoughts are with Jisca, who continues as 
a valued member.

The provision of refreshments in the Assembly Hall at Open House 
Melbourne in July 2019 provided an opportunity to generate funds 
for Dementia Australia. The Art Exhibition of ‘Life at Scots’ and Beyond’ 
also attracted visitors to the building over that weekend.

During the year the Committee once again supported a wide range of projects. Some of these 
were: the Presbyterian and Scots’ Church Joint Mission at Flemington through the Harvest 
Festival; Dementia Australia; Presbyterian Inland Mission Tasmania; Christian Blind Mission 
Africa Appeal; the Red Cross and Salvation Army Bushfire Appeals; Chemotherapy Care Kits; 
and Guide Dogs Victoria. Members of the Committee were joined by others to sing Christmas 
carols at MiCare, Kilsyth, where we were warmly welcomed. 

4 .  r e P ort s  of  stA n di ng coM M i t t e e s  
 of  t h e  K i r K  se s s ion
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4 .3  ch r i s t i A n  e du c At i on A n d su n dAy 
s c ho ol

Scots’ Church Sunday School

Mrs. Danise Sherman has been the Sunday School Superintendent for 
many years and we thank her very much for her continued dedicated 
work for the children who attend Scots’ Church. She is assisted by Mrs. 
Elizabeth Charles. The number of children who attend varies each 
Sunday. Visiting parents, in particular, who attend the 11.00 am service, 
are very grateful for the availability of Sunday School for their children.

Prior to the COVID -19 isolation the lessons were taken from a series of books by English author 
Mark Griffiths and the Apostles Creed. There have been no online activities for the Sunday 
School children during the lockdown.

Lois Taylor
Convenor

Sunday School Scots’ Church Report

Sunday School continues despite very few children attending.  Those that attend come regularly.  
We continue with bible-based lessons and think about how they apply to ourselves and other 
people.  Elizabeth Charles continues to help and fill the gap when I am away.

Danise Sherman
Superintendent

City Bible Class

2019- City Bible Class (C.B.S.) which met on a Tuesday evening in the Robert White Hall, studied 
two books, “Take Care of Yourself” by Pablo Martinez and finished the year by studying the Ten 

The monthly cake stalls continue to be the main source of funds for the work of the Committee.  
We are most grateful for the donations of cakes and other items to the stalls, and for the continuing 
support of the congregation. A number of generous donations to the work of the Committee 
through the last year have been greatly appreciated.

The monthly Committee meetings continued to provide a wonderful opportunity for warm 
fellowship very much enjoyed by all until early this year. Since February we have not held 
meetings due to restrictions imposed by management of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Committee wishes to thank the many people who so generously support our activities 
throughout the year.

Rae Anstee
Convener
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Commandments, based on a book by Kevin De Young, called “The 10 Commandments”.

2020- C.B.S. continued on in an online format. The studies were on Romans because the Rev. 
David Cook, when preaching at Scot’s Church in February, did an overview of this New Testament 
book.

During the Coronavirus Pandemic the C.B.S. group has been having ‘virtual coffee’ on Saturday 
mornings in order to keep in touch with and encourage each other during this time. Sonal 
Herlekar  led the group during Rev. Richard O’Brien’s sick leave. Stallone Joel Purushottam 
and Sirisha  provided the ‘ virtual connectivity’ for the C.B.S. on-line and the ‘ virtual coffee’ on 
Saturday morning. Our thanks to them.

Lois Taylor
Convenor

Christian Education Report – Indonesian Christian Church

Apart from their regular Sunday sermon series, ICC’s Christian education is also distributed 
through the following avenues: Sunday School classes, discipleship groups, classes, and seminars.

As per 2019, the ICC Sunday School comprises of 28 teachers and assistants, as well as 23 
children. They mainly use materials from David Cook’s Bible-in-Life, including other materials 
adapted from elsewhere during the holiday programs or special events. A teen class was also 
trialled on a fortnightly basis, using materials from Truth78 (formerly Children Desiring God), 
titled “Your Word is Truth”. 

ICC’s discipleship groups, also known as Gospel Growth Groups, meet fortnightly during school 
term. There are 5-6 groups consisting of 4-6 young adults each. There are other groups that 
meet on other days due to each member’s availability. While these groups mainly discuss the 
previous week’s sermon, they also act as care groups for each of their members and beyond. 
The discussion notes and questions are provided alternately by Sen and Christian. The young 
couples and older families meet monthly during the year, either at church or at the Tirtha’s 
residence. The family groups have discussed how the gospel should shape their thinking on 
issues such as anxiety, marriage, and family life.

ICC also annually run catechism and membership classes. The catechism classes have been 
largely structured around the New City Catechism and run for 6-7 meetings. The membership 
classes adapt some lessons from the Presbyterian Church of Victoria’s membership classes. 

Once or twice per month ICC runs various workshops and seminars with the aim to equip 
their congregation as well as to foster discussion about Christianity in general. The subjects 
they have covered in 2019 are: our role and calling as God’s unique creation, the significance 
of Jesus’ death and resurrection, the meaning of Jesus’ ascension, understanding and engaging 
with our emotions, and the issues of gender and identity. ICC also regularly have open question 
and answer sessions, in which people can either send their questions beforehand or ask them 
during the meeting.
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Due to the restrictions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic since mid-March ICC has shifted all 
its preaching and teaching avenues online. Their Sunday School lessons have been delivered by 
video recording and/or electronic book production. Lessons for the older children are delivered 
live via video conference using Zoom. Since most of their congregations are connected in 
WhatsApp messaging groups, Christian has started a brief audio recording of Bible devotionals 
which are sent out few times a week. The discipleship groups and seminars have also been 
conducted through video conference. Catechism and membership classes are planned to 
recommence in second half of the year. Given the dynamic nature of the federal and state 
restrictions, ICC predicts that the online delivery will remain for the foreseeable future.

Christian Tirtha



34

5 .1  f i nA nc e  coM M i t t e e

At the time of writing this report, the new Stage 4 Lockdown has been 
declared which will mean that the Church and its various activities 
remain closed until mid-September and probably longer. The 
Committee has continued to meet during the lockdown period and 
ZOOM was utilised for the May meeting, where the primary matter of 
business was approving the budgets for the 2020/21 Financial Year.

The most significant impact on the Church’s finances has been the 
loss of Open Plate Giving and the closure of the Church and meeting 

rooms and halls in the Assembly Hall. The Church was previously receiving a significant amount 
of rental income for the ad hoc rental of meeting rooms. The Victorian State Government has 
been a particularly large client.

In many respects the Scots’ Church is richly blessed. Whilst there has been loss of income from 
Giving and Hall Hire, these items make up a relatively small percentage of the Church’s total 
income.  The majority of the income is derived from the receipt of Stipends from the Scots’ 
Church Properties Trust and the contribution from the Building Maintenance and Improvement 
Fund. We are blessed by our Congregation who have continued to contribute to the Church 
through direct debit or simply posting cheques to office.

Of some concern is the distribution that the Building Maintenance & Improvement Fund 
receives from the Scots’ Church Properties Trust. Tenants have been able to seek reductions in 
their rents if their income has been reduced by the Pandemic. This has been the situation in the 
Georges Building and the Trust has had to grant relief to the Tenants of up to 60%.

This will certainly have an impact on the distribution from the Trust next year in October/
November.

The Assembly Hall will be similarly impacted with certain Tenants having to be granted rental 
reductions.

Cashflow forecasts

Cashflow forecasts have been produced which reflected that the Church’s finances were in 
sound shape and that we would have healthy cash balances at the 30 June 2020. Based on these 
balances, the Staffing Committee decided that all Staff would be paid in full for the period April 
through to June 2020.

Cashflows will be monitored closely to ensure that the Church has sufficient funds to keep 
operating effectively and to meet its debts as and when they are due.

5 .  r e P ort s  of  stA n di ng coM M i t t e e s  of  t h e 
 boA r d of  M A nAg e M e n t
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JobKeeper Allowance.

The Federal Government introduced the JobKeeper Allowance at the start of the Pandemic. 

The Church is seeking advice from Deloitte as to its eligibility to access this allowance.

Cash Boost

The Church has been the recipient of an allowance from the ATO which has been also been 
introduced by the Government to assist organisations through the pandemic. The initiative is 
entitled “Cash Boost” and the Church received $51,500 during the 2019/20Financial Year from 
this initiative. The payment is assessed on the PAYG tax payments made by the Church.

Costs

Costs are carefully monitored by the staff. New costs are questioned and validated.

In general terms, the costs have been reduced, with a reorganisation of staff duties. Ken Bowden 
has officially retired as the Church Officer and has been redeployed as a permanent part-time 
staff member. His new position is Welcome Desk Attendant working 5 days a week between 
10.00am and 2.00pm.

Investment & Special Purposes Fund

The Finance Committee monitors the performance of the Fund at each meeting. JB Were attends 
two meetings annually to brief the Committee on the performance of the investments and 
whether there are any recommendations for changes to the portfolio.

Unfortunately, the COVID 19 Pandemic has had a negative impact on the portfolio and it is 
expected that the income from dividends and interest receipts will be lower in 2020/21. However, 
the portfolio is invested in solid companies and who will withstand this crisis. 

Donations from the Fund

The Finance Committee is also actively involved in determining the distribution of donations to 
various charities. Recommendations are approved by the Board.

During 2019/20 the following donations were granted from the Fund;
 •  Royal Flying Doctor-Speech Pathology- $15,000
 •  Presbyterian Inland Mission- $16,000
 •  St Stephen’s Flemington- Missioner- $18,000 per annum or $1,500 per month.
 •  Presbyterian & Scots’ Joint Mission for the six months to 31/12/2019- $3,000.
 •  Presbyterian & Scots’ Joint Mission for the six months to 30/06/2020- $3,000.
 •  PLC Indigenous Scholarships- $59,199
 •  Reimbursement to General Fund for Bible purchases- $550.
 •  CMS- Rohan Fairbairn- $2,000 (Mission Scholar).
 •  PWMU- $2,000 paid from the Edith Faye Kennedy Bequest.

Big Hymn Sing

Due to the COVID19 Pandemic, the Big Hymn Sing was filmed and recorded and made available 
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to the Congregation and the public via YouTube. The Board approved the production costs of 
the event being met by the Margaret Campbell Fund. An amount of $5,500 was provided by the 
Fund.

Cost of upgrading the IT Server 

The Church’s IT infrastructure is now dated and requires to be updated. It is estimated that the 
upgrade will cost approximately $20,000 to $25,000. The funds for the upgrade will be provided 
by the Mal Kass Bequest, which is a General-Purpose Bequest that the Church is blessed to have 
received.

Electronic Offerings, Donations & Payments to the Church.

It is generally recognised that fewer persons are carrying cash and that more transactions are 
being settled by “Tap and Go” credit and debit cards. The Church needs to be prepared for this 
change and so an electronic device has been ordered for installation in the Russell Street foyer 
of the Church.

It will be set at $10.00 and be available for members of the public to make donations to the 
Church using a credit card. If a person wishes to make a $20.00 donation, then the credit card 
will be tapped twice.

It is unfortunate that we have not been able to install the device in the Church as it was received 
shortly before the lockdown.

The Church Office also has an electronic payment device that it uses for credit card receipts. 
We have been very pleased to receive an offer from our NAB support staff to assist the Sausage 
Sizzle Team with using the device on Sausage Sizzle days.

Finance Staff 

The Administrator is ably supported by Murray Hirst, the Church Accountant. Murray is supported 
by Keenan North in matters such as accounts payable and data entry.

The Church is a keen supporter of professional development for the staff. Murray Hirst has been 
financially supported in his course to gain membership of CPA Australia. 

Finance Committee Members

The Church has been well served by the members of the Finance Committee.

The Committee’s membership is Mr James Nuske (Convenor and Honorary Treasurer), Mr Craig 
McIntosh, Mr Dennis Conradi, Mr Barry Kilmartin, Dr Elizabeth Lewis, Mr. Robert Lowe, Miss Rae 
Anstee and Dr Douglas Sherman.

We give thanks to the Members for their time and dedication in overseeing the Church’s finances.

James Nuske
Convenor
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5 .2  A s s e M b ly h A l l  M A nAg e M e n t 
coM M i t t e e

Background

The Assembly Hall Management Committee (AHMC) was created in 
2017.  It was formed in response to the judgement by Justice Sifris 
on 7 April 2017 whereby he directed that the ownership of Assembly 
Hall should transfer from the Scots’ Church Properties Trust, who had 
held it on behalf of the Scots’ Church Board of Management for the 

benefit of the congregation (100%), to the beneficiaries of the Scots’ Church Properties Trust, 
namely Scots’ Church Board of Management for the benefit of the Scots’ Church Congregation 
(63%) and The Presbyterian Church of Victoria Trusts Corporation for the benefit of the Church 
Planting and Ministry and Development Committees (37%).

The following people were appointed by the respective bodies to represent their interests on 
this Committee:

 Scots’ Church Church Planting &
 Board of Management   Ministry Development Committees

 Dr Elizabeth Lewis AM Mr James Bligh
 Rev Douglas Robertson Mr Tony Arnold
 Mr Graham Nixon Mr Stuart Williamson
 Dr Solomon Sahhar
 Mr Craig McIntosh

At the inaugural meeting on 28 November 2017 Mr Craig McIntosh was elected Chairman and 
Mr James Bligh Secretary of the Committee.

2019/20

This group has met and corresponded to give direction on the day to day management of 
the building with an ongoing focus on maximising occupancy of commercial spaces and 
the maintenance of the building.  It has been ably assisted by the managing agent, Mr Peter 
Weatherby, and the facilities manager, Mr Paul Tucker, both of Fitzroys.  We are grateful to them 
for their diligence, concern and efforts in assisting the Committee over the last year and wish to 
pay a special vote of thanks to Peter who retired on 30 June 2020 as a director of Fitzroys.  He 
will stay on as a Consultant to ensure a smooth transition to his successor, Mr Michael Ridler.  

The financial results of the building were steadily improving until early this year when the world 
was hit with the COVID-19 epidemic (Cash at bank – 2020 $264,732; 2019 $160,355; Net Equity – 
2020 $6,180,610; 2019 $6,012,768).

A number of tenants’ businesses were affected by the economic downturn associated with 
the epidemic and made applications to seek variations in their rental arrangements.  The 
Committee was sympathetic to their needs and has reduced and/or waived rents for tenants 
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on a case by case basis.  Consequently rental returns have declined in the June quarter and are 
expected to be lower through the September 2020 quarter.  Notwithstanding the downturn in 
rents the Assembly Hall financial position is sound and there are adequate reserves to sustain 
the building into 2021 in the event rent reductions continue.

Fitzroys together with the Scots’ Church administrative team and cleaners have responded to the 
COVID-19 epidemic in accordance with all Government and Department of Health directives 
and guidelines.  Signage, written and verbal communication has been provided for the benefit 
of all occupants and guests to the building, and the cleaning regime increased around the 
building, particularly of high risk surfaces.  We are grateful to the entire team for their ongoing 
diligence.

As noted in the previous two years, it became apparent that there were significant issues with 
the stonework on the façade of the building and a detailed report was commissioned to assess 
the scope of repairs required.  The initial report provided an estimate of the restoration project 
at $2.5M, then $4.0M, and an update on the current cost of this project is expected in the near 
future.  Make safe works were undertaken again last year and early this year in an effort to 
monitor the deterioration and manage the risk of loose stone.  This situation continues to be 
monitored but further investigation is still required to identify this most efficient, effective and 
affordable solution.

I wish to thank the Scots’ Church Office Team for their ongoing diligence in managing the 
financial and operational aspects of the building and all of the members of the Committee 
for making themselves available, providing their skills and talents, and the way in which they 
have collectively worked together with the primary goal of ensuring the safety, standard of 
presentation, and financial sustainability of the building for the benefit of both beneficiaries 
and the church community.

Mr Craig McIntosh
Chairman
31 July 2020

5 .3  f u n d r A i s i ng coM M i t t e e

The Fund Raising Committee like all committees of the church has 
had a disrupted start for 2020 with only one sausage sizzle held in 
February because of COVID-19. From July through to December 2019 
we raised funds for Royal Flying Doctor Service, Melbourne City 
Mission, Sports Chaplaincy Australia, Scots’ PWMU, Presbyterian Inland 
Mission Drought Appeal, NSW Country Women’s Association Drought 
Appeal and in February 2020 Red Cross Bushfire Appeal.

Once again I would like to thank the fund raising team for their fellowship and support in our 
efforts to raise money for these charities. On the day much hard work goes into preparing the 
food and setting up to sell the sausages, cakes, cups of tea/coffee and soft drinks for our many 
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5 .4  ProPe rt y coM M i t t e e

We find ourselves in a difficult situation as the COVID-19 Pandemic 
has closed our Church Office since the end of March 2020. However, 
the maintenance and management of the Church and the Assembly 
Hall has continued through this period. Our service providers, 
Bortolottos, have continued to provide daily cleaning and sanitising 
services so that the buildings are kept as virus free as possible.

Whilst the Church has been closed during this period, tenants have 
continued to use their offices in the Assembly Hall. The retailers, 
such as Kay Craddock and Gray Reid Gallery have been particularly 

hard hit during this period. 

Heritage issues remain at the forefront of our planning. We need to be very conscious of our 
obligations, in this regard, when managing and planning repair works. However, we need to be 
vigilant about the on-going maintenance of these precious structures.

The Scots’ Church Building

The Church building is generally in good condition.

During the year, the Wool Corner Project was completed with Heritage Victoria approval. The 
pews were removed and will be repositioned in the Assembly Hall. Each pew will have a brass 
plaque which will state that its origin was from the Scots’ Church. The area is now more flexible 
for small services and other appropriate uses.

The annual painting and maintenance service occurred in June. Of particular concern is water 
ingress which causes serious damage to the walls. Water ingress is usually caused by blocked or 
faulty gutters and downpipes. We are in an area of Collins Street where there are a significant 

regular customers and visitors to the city. We are blessed the committee members do all of this 
with smiles on their faces and are well pleased when we have had a good day with our fund 
raising.

The members of the committee are Dennis Conradi, Lois and Gordon Taylor, Judith Kilmartin, 
Margaret E. Lowe, Barbara Noisette, Wendy Neilson, Ian Marshall, Margaret Lowe, Roslyn Lowe 
and Adam Thrussell. 

A special thank you to Judith Kilmartin, Lois Taylor, Wendy Neilson, Barbara Noisette, Margaret 
Lowe and Roslyn Lowe for their cakes which are much appreciated by our customers each 
month.

Robert Lowe
Convenor
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amount of leaves and other debris that get blown into the gutters. This is particularly during 
autumn. 

The gutters are of quite some concern as they are not easy to access. As managers of the Church, 
we have to be most concerned about the safety of persons working on the building. The laws 
have been strengthened recently and there are very severe penalties for injuries suffered at a 
workplace.

We are currently working on a project to install static lines on the Church roof. This will enable 
trade persons to use harnesses when they are on the roof and will prevent falls. The project 
requires Heritage Victoria approval and this is currently being sought.

We have recently been assisted with an aerial survey of the Church roof. Our insurer, Ansvar, 
arranged the service on our behalf. Unfortunately, not long after we received the results of the 
survey, we had to close the Office due to the Pandemic. When the workplace returns to normal, 
we will be able to plan the necessary repairs to the roof where weaknesses have been identified. 

Floodlights 

The Board approved the replacement of the   floodlights in the front of the Church on the 
Collins Street boundary. Seven new LED lights were installed on the boundary fence.  The results 
are spectacular and the Church looks magnificent at night. 

The Scots’ Church Precinct

Our excellent relationship with GPT, the owner of the Westpac Building, continues. We work 
cooperatively on keeping the Walkway clean and the maintenance of the fountain. We benefit 
from having access to their security personnel, which is very welcome on many difficult 
occasions.  Our location can unfortunately attract drug-users and other unwelcome guests.

The Assembly Hall

The Assembly Hall is overseen by the Assembly Hall Management Committee, which is comprised 
of members of the Board of Management and the Presbyterian Church of Victoria. 

The façade of the building is made safe by regular inspections provided by Cathedral Stone 
to ensure that there are no pieces of stonework that have become loose and dangerous. This 
exercise ensures that the pedestrian precincts remain safe, but it has to be repeated regularly. 
The façade will need to be restored in the not too distant future.

Fitzroys Facilities Management Service

The Property Committee and office staff are most grateful for the professional assistance that it 
receives from Fitzroys. We were sad to wish Mr Peter Weatherby farewell on his retirement from 
Fitzroys. His dedicated attention and expertise will be sadly missed. He has been replaced by Mr 
Michael Ridler who has undertaken to provide us with the same close and professional service 
that we received from Mr Weatherby.
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Mr Paul Tucker provides us with building management expertise and also project management 
skills, which are most valuable.  

Bortolotto Services

The Church is well served by Bortolotto Services. Mr Terry Morison is at the Church bright and 
early every day to check on the buildings and to see that the tenants are satisfied with their 
offices. Terry carries out small maintenance jobs as well as making sure that the buildings are 
clean.

His assistance during the COVID-19 Pandemic has been invaluable. He has a good understanding 
of all our buildings and is a great help when there are maintenance tasks that need to be 
performed by outside contractors.

Property Committee

A special thank you to the Church members who serve on the Property Committee. The 
Committee members are Mr Graham Nixon, Dr Douglas Sherman, Mr Barry Kilmartin, Miss Rae 
Anstee and Mr Gordon Taylor. Their expertise, knowledge and history of the Church buildings, is 
invaluable. We are most thankful for their service. 

Dennis Conradi, Convenor
Sebert Ruddock, Administrator

5 .5  Pl A n n e d gi v i ng

Proverbs 3:9 (NIV) says, “Honor the Lord with your wealth, with the 
firstfruits of all your crops.” 

I would like, for another year, to extend my thanks to all within the church 
who support the work of The Scots’ Church through regular Planned 
Giving.

The world has already changed due to the COVID-19 pandemic with 
more to come. Given the present restrictions on church services still in place, please consider 
supporting the ministry and mission of our church through regular financial giving if you are 
not already doing so. Before March 2020 the Planned Giving Program through envelopes was 
a significant factor contributing to budget planning for the church. The challenge continues to 
be to further encourage members of the congregation who contribute so generously through 
Direct Debit to consider continuing Planned Giving in this way.

Whilst there are over one hundred supporters of the Planned Giving Program it is also important 
that our generous supporters are encouraged to increase their contributions from time to time. 

During the year, thanks to the hard work of Ms Wendy Gregory in organizing the ordering and 
arrangement of deliveries of the envelopes and monitoring of Mr. Murray Hirst in keeping the 
record of supporters up-to-date , I am very pleased to acknowledge the efforts and enthusiasm 
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5 .6  hi s t ory A n d A rc h i v e s

The archival records continue to grow.

Many enquiries are received, both locally, interstate and from overseas 
and all are responded to.

A room has been made available at the rear of the Robert White Hall to 
work from. This enables easier access to the archives stored in the strong 
room.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the archives are closed until further notice.

Judith Kilmartin 
Convenor

of the team to enable the program to grow. I deeply appreciate the direction and advice of Mr. 
Jim Nuske in my role as Planned Giving Convenor.

As we enter the latter months of 2020 and look towards the future, let us move forward together 
into all that the Lord has for us.

May each of you stay safe and healthy.  If you are able to do so, please assist us in helping to 
address the impacts of COVID-19 in this time of great need.

Wayne Truong
Convenor
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6 .1  A dM i n i s t r At or

This year’s report is written in the very different environment in which 
the Church and our community finds itself. We have been in a state 
of lockdown since March 2020 as our nation battles the coronavirus. 
This has meant that our working lives for the past six months have 
occurred from home with the Church and the office closed. Jonathan 
and Wendy generally attend the office one day a week to check on the 
mail and telephone messages. Rick attends once a week to undertake 
cleaning in the Assembly Hall and the Church. We are fortunate to 
have the ability to access our files and emails from home.

Church Staff

Our staff remain unchanged from the previous year. Jonathan North, Wendy Gregory, Murray 
Hirst, Rick Holt and Ken Bowden (ably supported by Eileen) continue to serve the Church 
faithfully and diligently. Ken has assumed a new role as the Welcome Desk Attendant and keeps 
the Church open between 10.00 am and 2.00pm during the week. He has unfortunately not 
been able to do so since March.

Jonathan, as the Operations Manager, plays an important role in staff management, in addition to 
his other duties. This includes managing a dedicated team of Casual Staff members. He reports 
as follows;

“Scots Church is privileged to have a hard-working staff team.  In my position as Operations 
Manager I am given constant feedback regarding our staff performance from a wide variety 
of groups: Scots’ church groups, other church groups and organisations hiring the hall.  The 
feedback is overwhelmingly positive.  Our staff team consists of a several casual workers who 
provide support for the administration staff and enable us to put our venue spaces to greater 
use, resulting in us being a witness to and serving the wider community including other church 
groups and at the same time creating income for the Church.   Below is our list of our casual 
staff and their responsibilities.

Arif Ashan – assistant building officer
Monty Chandra – assistant church and building officer / website
Jethro North - assistant church and building officer
Keenan North – accounts / administration / website.

I am grateful for their all hard work and contributions to Scots.”

6 .  r e P ort s  -  ch u rc h A dM i n i st r At ion
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Administrator’s Role

My role remains largely unchanged. 

Whilst the day to day administration of finance and property matters reside primarily with Murray 
Hirst and Jonathan North, I provide advice as required, and liaise with various organisations/
persons who provide the Church with specialist advice. These people range from property 
specialists, legal practitioners, financial advisers and bankers.

Ex-officio Secretarial duties

A significant part of my role is as the Secretary of various Committees, where I arrange the 
meetings and prepare the agendas and notes for the meetings.

The Committees that I support are;

Finance Committee; Finance Sub-Committee for the Assembly Hall; Property Committee; Staffing 
Committee and the Properties Trust.

I have recently been appointed as the Convenor of the Scots’ Church Assembly Hall Negotiation 
Committee.

Church Staff

Murray Hirst, as the Church’s Accountant, continues to oversee the day-to-day financial and 
accounting matters and ensures that the Church meets its compliance obligations with 
bodies such as the Australian Taxation Office and the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits 
Commission (ACNC). Murray is an accredited user of XERO which is the software that is used to 
prepare financial reports, wages and salaries and accounts receivable and payable. It also tracks 
our daily banking information.

Jonathan North oversees the day-to-day operations of the Church in terms of hall and room 
bookings in the Assembly Hall, 150 Collins Street Function Room and the Church. In addition, 
Jonathan liaises with the organisers of the various events that are held in our premises. During 
this past year the COVID-19 Pandemic has seriously affected our room bookings as we have not 
been able to rent the rooms since March 2020. We have a number of clients (e.g. the Victorian 
State Government) that use our facilities almost on a weekly basis. At the time of writing this 
report, I believe that unfortunately this part of the Church’s activities will possibly remain closed 
for the rest of 2020.

During this year, Jonathan has taken responsibility for upgrading the Church’s website. 

His report is included below.

Wendy Gregory continues to do an admirable job in supporting our Ministers and during 2020, 
the Visiting Ministers, who have provided sermons during the vacancy of the Senior Minister’s 
position. Since March, Wendy has continued to provide high quality Orders of Service and 
the Scots’ Weekly electronically for the Congregation.  Wendy has also undertaken to provide 
pastoral calls to members of the Congregation from home, which we know has been greatly 
appreciated.
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Rick Holt works closely with Jonathan and is kept busy in keeping the meeting rooms and 
halls in all our facilities clean and making sure that the rooms are set up as per our client’s 
requirements.

Ken Bowden is well suited to his new role as the Welcome Desk Attendant. He has a particularly 
warm welcome for visitors. It is most unfortunate that the Church has been closed to the public 
since March. 

Our Volunteers

Whilst this year has been a most difficult one, we must thank our volunteers for the wonderful 
work that they undertake for the Church. May they be able to return in the not too distant future 
to provide their generous time and skills.

Those volunteers that support our various Committees and Boards, have become experts 
in using ZOOM and other electronic means of meeting. Without their dedication, skills and 
knowledge we would not be able to function effectively.

The Scots’ Church Website:

Jonathan assumed the responsibility for upgrading the Church’s website this year. He initially 
received very welcome and much needed assistance from Mr Nader Hanna. Jonathan reports 
as follows; 

“In February 2020 we launched the new Scots’ Church website.   In addition to launching the 
site we employed the services of Monty Chandra, a professional web designer and one of 
Scots’ Church assistant building officers.   A combination of the new site and Monty’s services 
have given the site an improved professional appearance and made it more user friendly.  With 
COVID-19 restrictions being implemented in March this year and resulting in Church buildings 
having to shut down, our website has never been more important; it has become our primary 
means of communication to Church members and those who may not normally participate in 
the Church. 

We have provided weekly online formats of church services including hymns, Bible readings 
and prayers.  In addition, we aired The Big Hymn Sing on June 21, participated in 2020 Open 
House Melbourne Online, and provided many forms of communication including updates and 
devotionals.   The website has seen an increase of about 250 visitors per week since COVID-19 
restrictions came into place, up from around 550 to about 800. The bulk of the increase in 
visits occurs on Sundays.  I have been overwhelmed with the positive feedback we have had 
regarding the website.”

Other Church Events

Events such as the Free Lunchtime Music in the Church concerts have unfortunately had to 
cease during the pandemic.
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Open House Melbourne this year is an electronic event and Jonathan and Monty have been 
instrumental in compiling a very interesting “visit” to Scots’ Church. The link is https://www.
scotschurch.com/open-house 

The Foundation Day Service and Lunch was held on 9th February and was probably one of the 
last big celebrations that we able to hold at the Church, before the lockdown. As always, it is a 
very special event with the Scots’ Church Congregation being joined by the Indonesian and St 
Stephen’s Congregations for a most vibrant worship service. 

In these difficult times we pray that the pandemic will soon end. We also pray for our 
Congregations’ health and safety. Through this period, we remember that we are richly blessed 
to be able to serve our Community at Scots’ Church Melbourne!

Sebert Ruddock- Administrator
Jonathan North- Operations Manager

6 .2  s co t s’  ch u rc h choi r

In normal circumstances the choir sings every Sunday. In January it is 
a smaller ensemble but all singers are drawn from the choir. This our 
base. This is what we are dedicated to. Sunday 11am is at the heart of 
our endeavours. Sadly we have not been able to have any services in 
Scots’ Church since late March.

Since the church closure, I have kept in close touch with all our choir 
members, Principals and Choral Scholars. For several of them who are 

self employed musicians it has been a particularly difficult time. I am glad to report that none of 
them has been ill and this seems to be to be the case with their extended families.

We launched the Big Hymn Sing on June 21 and there have over 1,000 hits on YouTube  thus 
far. It was sad to not be able to include the whole choir but our skilled and dedicated Principal 
Singers produce a very fine sound and high standard indeed. As Ria Polo was heavily pregnant 
I when we recorded the Bg Hymn Sing, I asked Dr Robin Batterham, Organist Emeritus at Scots’ 
to play the organ. As I write this we are welcoming Ria and Guruh’s new baby boy Arsya into 
the world.

Scots’ has continued to support the choir at this awful time. I do not have the words to adequately 
describe my and the singers’ gratitude for this extraordinary generosity. When Scots’ opens again 
we will return with joy, energy and mighty enthusiasm.

Douglas Lawrence AM
Director of Music
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7.1  t h e  s co t s’  ch u rc h ProPe rt i e s  t ru s t

This year was looking like a comparatively quiet year in the life of the 
Trust in comparison to the events of the last few years, the properties 
were fully let and everything was going along fine, then the COVID-19 
pandemic hit, and life as we all knew it changed dramatically overnight.

The tenants in the Georges Building saw their businesses close in 
accordance with government directives, which resulted in them 
making a claim for a rent reduction in line with government guidelines. 
This of course will have an adverse effect on the income of the Trust 

and ultimately the amount of the distribution received by each of the beneficiaries. Let us hope 
and pray that it will not be too long before we will be able to put the matter behind us and move 
forward.

The Trustees would like to express their appreciation to Mr Sebert Ruddock and Mr Murray Hirst 
for their continued support and assistance, as well as wishing  Mr Peter Weatherby of Fitzroys, 
who has led the  management of the Trusts’ properties for many many years, all the very best in 
his retirement.

Paul Kerss
Chairman

7.2  s co t s’  ch u rc h boA r d of  M A nAg e M e n t 
l i M i t e d

Scots’ Church Board of Management Limited is a company limited 
by guarantee that was incorporated on 5 May 2017 with the specific 
purpose of holding the Scots’ Church Board of Management’s interest 
in Assembly Hall as directed by Judge Sifris’ orders on 28 April 2017.

The following members of the Scots’ Church Board of Management 
were elected as the founding directors of this entity:

Mr Craig McIntosh
Mr Graham Nixon
Dr Solomon Sahhar

It held its inaugural meeting on 5 May 2017 and Mr Craig McIntosh was elected Chairman.

Transfer of title was completed on 18 June 2018.

7.  r e P ort s  -  t ru st s
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These directors are also members of the Assembly Hall Management Committee which enables 
them to ensure the Scots’ Church Board of Management 63% interest in the building is being 
maintained in a prudent manner with good governance.

In August 2019 Scots’ Church Board of Management Limited made an indicative offer to the 
Presbyterian Church of Victoria Ad Hoc Committee to purchase the remaining 37% share in 
Assembly Hall on behalf of the Scots’ Church Board of Management and the Scots’ Church 
Congregation.  This offer was prepared by the Scots’ Church Board of Management Finance Sub-
committee on Assembly Hall.

The offer was considered by the PCV Ad Hoc Committee and then put to the 2020 Commission 
of Assembly in June 2020.  The Commission of Assembly established a new Sub-committee 
known as the Ad Hoc Negotiation of the Sale of Assembly Hall Committee and authorised it to 
negotiate the sale of PCV Home Mission’s 37% interest to the Scots’ Church Congregation and 
report back to the October 2020 Assembly.  Negotiations have not yet begun.

Mr Craig McIntosh
Chairman
31 July 2020
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Board of Management’s report 
 
The Board of Management of The Scots' Church Melbourne ("The Scots' Church") submit the annual report of 
The Scots' Church General Fund ("the General Fund") for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.  
 
The names of the Board of Management of the General Fund during or since the end of the financial year are: 

 
Ruling Elders    
Miss D. Rae Anstee AM DSJ 1983 - present Mr Andrew McDonald 2014 - present 
Mr Peter Armstrong 2014 - present Mr Craig McIntosh 2005 - present 
Dr Charles C Castle 1987 - present Mr Graham Nixon 1993 - present 
Mr Dennis Conradi 2005 - present Mr James F Nuske 2005 - present  
Mr Bruce C Evans 1993 - present Dr Sol Sahhar 2007 - present 
Mr David Gibb 2014 - present Dr Douglas Sherman 2005 - present 
Mr Graeme Harris 2003 - present Mr Gordon Taylor 1987 - present  
Mrs Helen A Holman 1983 - present Mrs Lois Taylor 1993 - present 
Mr Paul Kerss 2007 - present Mr Wayne Truong 2014 - present 
Mr Barry Kilmartin 2003 - present Professor Sen Sendjaya 2010 - present 
Mr Robert Lowe 2003 - present   
    
Teaching Elders    
Rev Richard O’Brien 2003 - present Rev Christian Tirtha Indonesian Church 
Rev Douglas Robertson 2001 - 2020 Rev Andrew Wong St Stephens and Mission 
Rev Philip Court 2020 - present   
    
Managers    
Dr Caroline Allinson 2018 - present Mrs Margaret E Lowe 2016 - present 
Ms Lillian Chuah 2009 - present Miss Lauris Murnane 2010 - present  
Ms Elizabeth Charles 2017 - present Ms Barbara Noisette 2017 - present 
Mrs Margaret Conradi 2005 - present Ms Jennifer Pilgrim 2009 - present 
Mr Sonal Herlekar 2020 - Present Mrs Danise Sherman 2018 - present 
Mrs Judith Kilmartin 1993 - present Ms Rosalie Strother 2014 - present 
Dr Elizabeth Lewis AM 2010 - present Mrs Jodie Tregale 2007 - present 
Session Clerk    
Mr Peter Armstong 2018 - present   
 
Honorary Secretary 
Dr Douglas Sherman 1997 - present   
    
Honorary Treasurer    
Mr James Nuske 1997 - present   

 
 
The above-named persons held office during and since the end of the financial year unless otherwise stated. 
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Board of Management’s report (cont’d) 
 
Principal activities 
The principal activities of the General Fund during the financial year were the provision of religious services. No 
significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the financial year. 
 
Review of operations 
The results of the operations of the General Fund are disclosed in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of these financial statements. The deficit for the financial year was $221,894 (2019: surplus  
$66,659). 
 
Changes in state of affairs 

The outbreak of COVID-19 and the subsequent quarantine measures imposed by the Australian and other governments 
as well as the travel and trade restrictions imposed by Australia and other countries in early 2020 have caused 
disruption to businesses and economic activity. 

As the situation remains fluid (due to evolving changes in government policy and evolving business and customer 
reactions thereto) as at the date these financial statements are authorised for issue, the Board of Management considered 
that the financial effects of COVID-19 on the General Fund financial statements cannot be reasonably estimated for 
future financial periods. However, the Board of Management consider that the general economic impacts arising from 
COVID-19 are expected to have a negative impact on certain sections of the operations. It is likely to impact on certain 
market segments for the Fund's related entities. The economic effects arising from the COVID-19 outbreak are expected 
to affect the results of the General fund for the full year of 2021. 
 
Environmental regulations 
The General Fund’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a law of the 
Commonwealth or of any State or Territory. 
 
Distributions 
In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2020, no distributions were paid from the General Fund (2019: $Nil). 
 
Indemnification of officers and auditors 
During or since the financial year the General Fund has not indemnified or made a relevant agreement to indemnify 
an officer or auditor of the General Fund or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer 
or auditor.  
 
The Board of Management and any other office bearers within the church are insured for Liability as ‘Directors and 
Officers’ by an insurance policy taken out by the Presbyterian Church of Victoria on behalf of all affiliated 
Presbyterian Churches in Victoria.  Each church, including The Scots’ Church, contributes to the premium for this 
policy. 
 
Proceedings on behalf of the General Fund 
No person has applied to leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the General Fund or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the General Fund is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the General Fund 
for all or any part of those proceedings. The General Fund was not a party to any such proceedings during the financial 
year. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Board of 

Management of The Scots’ Church General Fund 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the financial report, being a special purpose financial report, of The Scots’ 
Church General Fund (the “General fund”), which comprises the statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 
and the declaration statement by the board of management as set out on pages 6 to 20. 
 
In our opinion the accompanying financial report presents fairly in all material respects the 
General fund’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with financial reporting requirements of 
the Board of Management of The Scots’ Church General Fund and the accounting policies 
described in note 3.   
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the General 
fund in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Board of Management 
of Scots’ Church and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Board of Management, which 
has been given to the Board of Management of the General fund, would be in the same 
terms if given to the Board of Management as at the time of this auditor’s report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 
 

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution and Use  

We draw attention to Note 3 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. 
The financial report has been prepared to assist the Board of Management to meet the 
financial reporting requirements of the Board of Management.  As a result, the financial 
report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the Board 
of Management and should not be distributed or used by parties other than the Board of 
Management. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  

 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
A.B.N. 74 490 121 060 
 
477 Collins Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000 
PO Box 78 
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia 
 
DX 111 
Tel:  +61 (0) 3 9671 7000 
Fax:  +61 (0) 3 9671 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 
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Other Information  
 
The Board of Management is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the board of management report but does not include the financial report and our 
auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.  
 
Board of Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Report 
 
Management of the general fund is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report and have determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 3, is 
appropriate to meet the financial reporting requirements of the board of management and is 
appropriate to meet the needs of the members.  Management’s responsibility also includes such 
internal control as management determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 
 
In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the ability of the 
general fund to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intend to 
liquidate the general fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The Board of Management is responsible for overseeing the general fund’s financial reporting 
process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole 
is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:   
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the General fund’s internal control.  

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the board of management.  
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of the board of management’s use of the going concern 

basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
General fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the General fund to cease to continue 
as a going concern.  
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.  

 
 
 

 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 
 

Robert D D Collie 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Melbourne, 30 September 2020

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





The Scots’ Church General Fund 
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

8 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 Note  2020 2019 
Income  $ $ 
Contribution from The Scots' Church Building, 
Maintenance & Improvements Fund 

  426,578  429,698 

Contributions from the Scots' Church Properties Trust 4(c)  292,090  285,828 
Interest income     144  76 
Legacies and bequests   33,892  51,816 
Offerings 4(a)  134,744  162,597 
Other income 4(b)  365,779  471,299 
Total Income   1,253,227  1,401,314 
     
Expenses     
Church expenses 5(a)           (313,012)  (359,898) 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment                (3,782)  (357) 
Security expenses              (31,678)  (41,133) 
General mission program              (11,352)  (12,680) 
Legal expenses                (5,401)  (7,618) 
Ministry and payroll expenses 5(b)           (823,786)  (900,750) 
Other expenses 5(c)           (13,855)  (12,219) 
Expected credit losses expense 5(c)  (271,872) - 
Finance costs   (383) - 
Total Expenses        (1,475,121)  (1,334,655) 

     
(Deficit)/ surplus before tax            (221,894)  66,659 
Income tax expense 3(j)  - - 
(Deficit)/ surplus for the year            (221,894)  66,659 
Other comprehensive income   - - 
Total comprehensive (loss)/ income for the year           (221,894)  66,659 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of financial position  
at 30 June 2020 
 

   2020 2019 
 Note  $ $ 

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 11(a)           353,498  295,840 
Trade and other receivables 6            52,067  387,869 
Total current assets   405,565         683,709 

     
Non-current assets     
Property, plant and equipment      7                 951             1,152 
Right-of-use asset              9,250  - 
Total non-current assets            10,201  1,152 
Total assets         415,766  684,861 

     
LIABILITIES     
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 8   101,232  159,277 
Borrowings from the Scots’ Church Building, 
Maintenance & Improvements Fund 9                  - 36,000 
Provisions 10        94,299  102,136 
Lease liability   3,542 - 
Total current liabilities   199,073 297,413 

     
Non-current liabilities     
Borrowings from the Scots’ Church Building, 
Maintenance & Improvements Fund 9       364,481  316,855 
Provisions 10  1,579 3,934 
Lease liability   5,868 - 
Total non-current liabilities   371,928 320,789 
Total liabilities   580,631 618,202 
Net (liabilities)/assets   (155,235) 66,659 

     

Equity     

Accumulated (deficit)/surplus         (155,235)  66,659 
Total equity         (155,235)  66,659 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 
  Accumulated 

surplus/(losses) Total 
  $ $ 
    

Balance at 1 July 2018  (1,755,860) (1,755,860) 
Surplus for the year  66,659 66,659 
Other comprehensive income  - - 
Total comprehensive profit for the year  66,659 66,659 
Capital Contribution – forgiveness of loan 
from The Scots’ Church Building, 
Maintenance and Improvements Fund 

 1,755,860 1,755,860 

Balance at 30 June 2019  66,659 66,659 
 

   
Balance at 1 July 2019  66,659 66,659 
Deficit for the year  (221,894) (221,894) 
Other comprehensive income  - - 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  (221,894) (221,894) 
Balance at 30 June 2020        (155,235)       (155,235) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 
Note 

 2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Receipts and donations   
              

826,694 378,217 

Legacies and bequests               33,892  51,816 

Receipts from the Scots’ Church Building, Maintenance & 
Improvements Fund             438,204  431,448 

Receipts from The Scots’ Church Properties Trust             292,090  285,828 

Payments to suppliers and employees       (1,525,758) (1,074,948) 

Net cash generated by operating activities 11(b)             65,122  72,361 

     

Cash flows from investing activities     

Interest income                    144  76 

Net cash generated by investing activities                    144  76 

Repayment of lease liability   (7,608) - 

Net cash flow (used in) financing activities   (7,608) - 

     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   57,658 72,437 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   295,840 223,403 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 11(a)  353,498 295,840 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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1.  General information 
 

The Scots’ Church General Fund’s (“the general fund”) registered office and principal place of business are as follows: 

The Scots’ Church Melbourne  

1/156 Collins Street  

MELBOURNE  VIC  3000  
 

2.  Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards 
 
2.1 Amendments to Accounting Standards that are mandatorily effective for the current reporting period 

The general fund has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for an accounting period that 
begins on or after 1 January 2019. 

New and revised Standards and amendments thereof and Interpretations effective for the current year that are relevant 
to the general fund include: 

AASB 16 – Leases 
 

In the current year, the general fund has applied AASB 16 Leases, which is effective for annual periods that begin on or 
after 1 July 2019. 
AASB 16 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It introduces significant changes 
to lessee accounting by removing the distinction between operating and finance lease and requiring the recognition of a 
right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low 
value assets. In contrast to lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting have remained largely unchanged. 
Details of these new requirements are described in note 3. The impact of the adoption of AASB 16 is described below. 

Impact of the new definition of a lease 

The general fund has made use of the practical expedient available on transition to AASB 16 not to reassess whether a 
contract is or contains a lease. Accordingly, the definition of a lease in accordance with AASB 117 Leases and 
Interpretation 4 -Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, will continue to be applied to those contracts 
entered or modified before 1 July 2019. 

The change in definition of a lease mainly relates to the concept of control. AASB 16 determines whether a contract 
contains a lease on the basis of whether the customer has the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period 
of time in exchange for consideration. This is in contrast to the focus on 'risks and rewards' in AASB 117 and 
Interpretation 4. 

The general fund applies the definition of a lease and related guidance set out in AASB 16 to all contracts entered into 
or changed on or after 1 July 2019. 

Former operating leases 

AASB 16 changes how the general fund accounts for leases previously classified as operating leases under AASB 117, 
which were off balance sheet.  

Applying AASB 16, for all leases (except as noted below), the general fund:  

• Recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position, initially measured at the 
present value of the future lease payments  

• Recognises depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in profit or loss  
• Separates the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing activities) and interest 

(presented within financing activities) in the statement of cash flows. 

Lease incentives (e.g. rent-free period) are recognised as part of the measurement of the right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities whereas under AASB 117 they resulted in the recognition of a lease incentive, amortised as a reduction of 
rental expenses generally on a straight-line basis.  

Under AASB 16, right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.  
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2.   Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards (cont’d) 
2.1 Amendments to Accounting Standards that are mandatorily effective for the current reporting period 

(cont’d) 

On transition, for leases previously accounted for as operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months 
and for leases of low-value assets (such as tablet and personal computers, small items of office furniture and telephones) 
the General fund has applied the optional exemptions to not recognise right-of-use assets but to account for the lease 
expense on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term. The adoption of this standard resulted in leases previously 
classified as operating leases, being recognised in the balance sheet as a lease liability and right to use asset totalling 
$12,831.   

 AASB 117 

1/7/2019 

$ 

Adjustments 

 

$  

AASB 16 

1/7/2019 

$ 

Statement of financial position    

Right to use asset - 12,831 12,831 

Lease Liability – current - 3,421 3,421 

Lease Liability – non-current - 9,410 9,410 
 

 
 
2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted 

 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the General fund has not applied the following  

new and revised Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective. 

Standard/Interpretation 

Effective for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or after 

AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of a 
Business 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2018-7 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of 
Material’ 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – References to the 
Conceptual Framework 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2019-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Interest Rate 
Benchmark Reform’ 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2019-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of the 
Effect of New IFRS Standards Not Yet Issued in Australia’ 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 

1 January 2022 

AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual 
Improvements 2018-2020 and Other Amendments 

1 January 2022 

AASB 2020-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Covid-19-Related 
Rent Concessions 

1 June 2020 

The potential effect of the revised standards/interpretations on The Scots’ Church General Fund of the other standards on 
issue not yet effective has not yet been determined. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies  
 
Financial reporting framework 

The Scots’ Church General Fund is not a reporting entity because in the opinion of the Board of Management 
there are unlikely to exist users of the financial report who are unable to command the preparation of reports 
tailored so as to satisfy specifically all of their information needs. Accordingly, this ‘special purpose financial 
report’ has been prepared to satisfy the Board of Management’s reporting requirements. 

For the purpose of this financial report the entity is a not for profit entity, registered with the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission “ACNC”. 
 
Statement of compliance 
The financial report has been prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement requirements 
specified by all Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and the disclosure requirements of 
Accounting Standards AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB 107 Statement of Cash flows, 
AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and AASB 1054 Additional 
Australian Disclosures. 
 
Basis of preparation 
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain non-
current assets and financial instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange 
for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted. Fair value is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the General fund takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into 
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.  
 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
In the application of the General Fund’s accounting policies, which are described below, the Board of 
Management are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
Judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements concern depreciation rates.  These are reviewed annually to ensure that assets are 
being appropriately depreciated.  No key assumptions have been made concerning the future and there are no 
other key sources of estimation at the balance date that has a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
 
Management judgement is also applied in determining the provision for long service leave where the following 
key assumptions are used in the calculation of long service leave at reporting date: 

 future increases in salaries and wages; 
 future on cost rates; and 
 experience of employee departures and period of service.  
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3.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
Going concern 
As at 30 June 2020 the Scots’ Church General Fund has a deficit of $221,894 (2019: surplus $66,659) and a net 
asset deficiency of $155,235 (2019: surplus $66,659).  The General fund is supported by The Scots’ Church 
Building, Maintenance and Improvements Fund who has provided an unconditional letter of support to ensure 
the General Fund can pay its debt as and when they fall due.  
 
The Scots' Church Building, Maintenance and Improvements Fund has net assets of $3,266,883 as of 30 June 
2020 (2019: $3,088,819) and contributes to the General Fund annually. Accordingly, it is the Board of 
Management's opinion that the general fund has an ability to pay its debts as and when they fall due and continue 
to operate as a going concern for a period of at least the next 12 months from the date of this report. 
 
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the 
financial report: 
 
(a) Income 
The General fund applies AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers. 
 
AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not-for-profit (NFP) 
entities, in conjunction with AASB 15. The new income recognition requirements shift the focus from a 
reciprocal/non-reciprocal basis to a basis of assessment that considers the enforceability of a contract and the 
specificity of performance obligations. 
 
The core principle of the income recognition requirements in AASB 1058 is when a NFP entity enters into 
transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less than the fair value of the asset 
principally to enable the general fund to further its objectives, the excess of the asset recognised (at fair value) 
over any ‘related amounts’ is recognised as income immediately. 
 
Under AASB 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
'control' of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. 
AASB 15 introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition, which is more prescriptive than AASB 118. 

 
•  Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer. 
•  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract. 
•  Step 3: Determine the transaction price. 
•  Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. 
•  Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the general fund satisfies a performance obligation. 

 
AASB 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for income arising from 
contracts with customers. 
The General fund recognises income from the following major source: 

 
Contribution from The Scots' Church Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund 
Contributions from The Scots’ Church Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund are intended to cover the 
expenses incurred by the General Fund for the running of the Church.  Revenue is recognised when the 
contribution has been received. 

 
Offerings 
Offerings are the cash donations received by the Church from time to time and are recognised on a cash basis. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(a)    Income (cont’d) 
The Scots’ Church Properties Trust 
This revenue comprises cash contributions from The Scots’ Church Properties Trust to contribute towards 
ministry stipends and for congregational purposes.  Revenue is recognised when the contribution has been 
declared. 
 
(b) Expenses 
Church expenses 
Church expenses are incurred in relation to the running of the Scots' Church and are recognised on an accrual 
basis. 
 
Ministry expenses 
Ministry expenses comprise salary and employee benefits for Ministers and are recognised on an accrual basis. 
 
(c) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash in banks, net of outstanding bank overdrafts and 
credit cards. 
 
(d) Financial assets and labilities 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the general fund becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial 
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.  
Financial assets 
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial assets are 
measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost. 
 
Classification of financial assets 
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost: 
 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 

collect contractual cash flows; and 
 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
The General fund’s financial assets include trade receivables, loans and other receivables and are recorded at 
amortised cost less impairment. 
 
Amortised cost and effective interest method 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period.  
 
For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit‑impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are 
credit‑impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected 
life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt 
instrument on initial recognition.  
 



The Scots’ Church General Fund 
Notes to the financial statements 

17 

3.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(d) Financial assets and Liabilities (cont’d) 
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition 
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any 
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss 
allowance. 
 

Impairment of financial assets 
The General fund recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables. The amount of 
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition 
of the respective financial instrument. 
 
The General fund always recognises lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) for trade receivables. The expected 
credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the General fund’s 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions 
and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 
 
Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a financial instrument. During the year ended 30 June 2020, an impairment of a related party 
receivable of $271,872 was recorded (2019: nil). 

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of 
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described 
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount 
at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the 
reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default date 
determined based on historical trend, the General fund’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of 
the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.  

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that 
are due to the General fund in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the General fund expects 
to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  

If the General fund has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime 
ECL are no longer met, the General fund measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at 
the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.  

The General fund recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a 
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

The General fund derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
to another General fund. If the General fund neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the General fund recognises its retained interest in 
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the General fund retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the General fund continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.  

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.  
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3.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(d) Financial assets and Liabilities (cont’d) 
Financial liabilities  

Financial liabilities, including trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the General Fund 
becomes obliged to make future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services. These are initially 
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.  

 
Derecognition 

The General fund derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the General fund’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement 
of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
 
(e)  Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. 
 
The Scots’ Church General Fund reviews the useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each 
financial year with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.  
 
The following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation: 

Plant and equipment 5 – 10 years 
Furniture, fixtures and fittings 3 – 4 years 
Office and equipment 2 – 4 years 

 
The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as 
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Impairment of tangible assets  
At each reporting date, the board of management assess whether there is objective evidence that a tangible asset 
has been impaired. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any). 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
 
In respect of not-for-profit entities, where the future economic benefits of an asset are not primarily dependent 
on the assets ability to generate net cash inflows and where the general fund would, if deprived of the asset, 
replace its remaining future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciable replacement cost of 
an asset less, where applicable, accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the 
already consumed or expired future economic benefits of the asset. The current replacement cost of an asset is 
its cost measured by reference to the lowest cost at which the gross future economic benefits of that asset could 
currently be obtained in the normal course of business. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
Impairment of tangible assets (cont’d) 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately. 
 
(f) Employee benefits 
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, and 
long service leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured 
reliably. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at 
their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are 
measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the general fund in respect of 
services provided by employees up to reporting date. 
 
(g) Leased assets 

The General fund assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract.  The General 
fund recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in 
which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and 
leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office furniture and telephones). 
For these leases, the General fund recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, 
the General fund uses its incremental borrowing rate.  

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:  
 Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable  
 Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 

commencement date  
 The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees  

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.  

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 
liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments 
made.  

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments 
made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They 
are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying 
asset.  If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the 
General fund expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful 
life of the underlying asset.  The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.  
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3.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(h) Leased assets (cont’d) 

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in statement of financial position.  
 
The General fund applies AASB 136 Impairment of Assets to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired 
and accounts for any identified impairment loss as described in the ‘Property, plant and equipment’ policy. 
 
(i) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the General Fund has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the General Fund will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material). 
 
(j) Income tax 
The General Fund is exempt from income tax under Section 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 
 
(k) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except: 

i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables. 
 
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
classified as operating cash flows. 
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  2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

4.  Income    
(a) Offerings    

Direct debit             16,918  7,785 
Open plate             71,839  97,827 
Planned giving             45,987  56,985 

           134,744  162,597 
(b) Other income    

Church fees          14,400  24,550 
Appeals          11,781  23,395 
Donations         15,163  25,428 
Fundraising          3,863  5,149 
Hall hire        82,112  93,689 
Information table                159  151 
Reimbursement of expenses         123,752  162,957 
Other income        114,549  135,980 

        365,779  471,299 
(c) Contributions from the Scots' Church Properties 
Trust 

   

Congregational purposes   146,045 142,914 
Contributions towards salaries and stipends for Ministers  146,045 142,914 

  292,090 285,828 

    
5.  Expenses    

(a) Church expenses    

Advertising               7,976  10,822 
Professional fees             33,971  43,761 
Computer expenses             15,402  10,761 
Donations             32,970  54,935 
Flowers and decorations               3,957  5,446 
Lighting, heating and water             48,663  61,827 
Music             22,062  23,067 
Postage               4,450  2,573 
Printing and reproduction             39,697  49,344 
Sundry expenses             89,438  84,294 
Telephone             14,426  13,068 
           313,012 359,898 
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  2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

5.  Expenses (cont’d) 
(b) Ministry and payroll expenses    

Allowances           128,082 135,295 

Insurance           15,760  23,019 

Leave Provision        (11,718) 1,050 

Pulpit fees               7,382  307 

Salaries   426,235  431,763 

Stipends         177,424  215,137 

Superannuation            72,162  77,742 

Workcover             8,109  4,733 

Other                 350  11,704 

           823,786  900,750 

(c) Other expenses    

Expense for expected credit losses  271,872 - 

Miscellaneous  13,855 12,219 

  285,727 12,219 

6.  Receivables    

Related party receivables:    

The Scots’ Church Properties Trust  275,434 271,872 

Less provision for impairment  (271,872) - 

  3,562 271,872 

The Scots’ Church Building, Maintenance and Improvements 
Fund  14,370 43,660 

The Scots’ Church Investments, & Special Purpose Fund  15,935 20,094 

Other receivables  18,200 52,243 

  52,067 387,869 

7.  Property, plant and equipment    

Plant and equipment - at cost  14,664 14,664 

Accumulated depreciation  (13,877) (13,676) 

  787 988 
    

Furniture, fixtures and fittings - at cost  11,653 11,653 

Accumulated depreciation  (11,581) (11,581) 

  72 72 
    

Office equipment - at cost  60,416 60,416 

Accumulated depreciation  (60,324) (60,324) 

  92 92 

Total property, plant and equipment  951 1,152 
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9.  Borrowings – related party 

 

Loan from The Scots’ Church Building, Maintenance and 
Improvements Fund 

 

Current   -                 36,000 

Non-current       364,481               316,855 

Total       364,481                352,855 

 

 

10.  Provisions    

Current    

Employee benefits – Annual Leave  27,299 28,875 

Employee benefits – Long Service Leave  67,000 73,261 

  94,299 102,136 

Non-current    

Employee benefits – Long Service Leave  1,579 3,934 
 
 

11.  Cash and cash equivalents     

(a)  Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks 
and investments in money market instruments. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as 
shown in the statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position 
as follows: 

Cash at bank and in hand   
                           

353,498  295,840 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

  
2020 

$ 

2019 

$ 

  2019 
$ 

2018 
$ 

8.  Trade and other payables    

Trade payables  61,898 67,040 

Other payables  - 28,434 

Accrued expenses  39,334 63,803 

  101,232 159,277 
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  2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

 
11.  Cash and cash equivalents (cont’d) 

(b)  Reconciliation of deficit for the year to net cash flows from operating activities 

(Deficit)/surplus for the year  (221,894) 66,659 

Interest income  (144) (76) 

Depreciation and amortisation  3,782 357 

Provision for expected credit losses  275,833 - 
    

Movement in working capital:    

(Increase)/decrease in assets:    

Trade and other receivables              63,930 (92,430) 

    

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:    

Trade and other payables            (57,820) 84,397 

Loans              11,626  1,750 

Provisions                 (10,191) 11,704 

Net cash generated by operating activities 
                              

65,122  72,361 
 

12.  Commitments and contingencies    
 
There were no commitments or contingent liabilities at 30 June 2020. 

 

13.  Auditor’s remuneration 

 

  

Audit of the financial statements  21,320 19,967 

  21,320 19,967 

The auditor of the General Fund is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. 

 
14.  Subsequent events 

The Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) was declared a pandemic in March 2020 by the World Health Organisation 
(WHO).  The outbreak of COVID-19 and the subsequent quarantine measures imposed by the Australian and 
other Governments as well as the travel and trade restrictions imposed by Australia and other countries in early 
2020 have caused disruption to business and economic activity. 
 
Subsequent to the end of the financial year, the entity has applied and been granted COVID-19 Government 
assistance in the formal of the receipt of Job Keeper and COVID-19 cash boost payments. 
 
There has not been any other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year that has 
significantly affected, or may significantly affect the operations of the fund, the results of those operations, or the 
state of affairs of the fund in future financial years. 
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Board of Management’s report 
 
The Board of Management of The Scots' Church Melbourne ("The Scots' Church") submit herewith the annual 
report of The Scots' Church Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund ("the Building, Maintenance & 
Improvements Fund") for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 
 
 
The names of the Board of Management of the Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund during or since 
the end of the financial year are: 
 

Ruling Elders    
Miss D. Rae Anstee AM DSJ 1983 - present Mr Andrew McDonald 2014 - present 
Mr Peter Armstrong 2014 - present Mr Craig McIntosh 2005 - present 
Dr Charles C Castle 1987 - present Mr Graham Nixon 1993 - present 
Mr Dennis Conradi 2005 – present Mr James F Nuske 2005 - present  
Mr Bruce C Evans 1993 – present Dr Sol Sahhar 2007 - present 
Mr David Gibb 2014 – present Dr Douglas Sherman 2005 - present 
Mr Graeme Harris 2003 – present Mr Gordon Taylor 1987 - present  
Mrs Helen A Holman 1983 - present Mrs Lois Taylor 1993 - present 
Mr Paul Kerss 2007 - present Mr Wayne Truong 2014 – present 
Mr Barry Kilmartin 2003 - present Professor Sen Sendjaya 2010-present 
Mr Robert Lowe 2003 - present   
    
Teaching Elders    
Rev Richard O’Brien 2003 - present Rev Christian Tirtha Indonesian Church 
Rev Douglas Robertson 2001 - 2020 Rev Andrew Wong St Stephens and Mission 
Rev Philip Court 2020-present   
    
Managers    
Dr Caroline Allinson 2018 - present Mrs Margaret E Lowe 2016 – present 
Ms Lillian Chuah 2009 – present Miss Lauris Murnane 2010 - present  
Ms Elizabeth Charles 2017 - present Ms Barbara Noisette 2017 - present 
Mrs Margaret Conradi 2005 – present Ms Jennifer Pilgrim 2009 – present 
Mr Sonal Herlekar 2020 - Present Mrs Danise Sherman 2018 - present 
Mrs Judith Kilmartin 1993 – present Ms Rosalie Strother 2014 – present 
Dr Elizabeth Lewis AM 2010 – present Mrs Jodie Tregale 2007 – present 
Session Clerk    
Mr Peter Armstong 2018 - present   
 
Honorary Secretary 
Dr Douglas Sherman 1997 – present   
    
Honorary Treasurer    
Mr James Nuske 1997 - present   
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Board of Management’s report (cont’d) 
 
Principal activities 
The principal activity of the Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund during the financial year was the 
maintenance of the Scots' Church buildings. No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred 
during the financial year. 

    
Review of operations 
The results of the operations of the Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund are disclosed in the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of these financial statements. The total surplus for the 
financial year was $176,978 (2019: Surplus $120,217). 
 
Changes in state of affairs 
The outbreak of COVID-19 and the subsequent quarantine measures imposed by the Australian and other 
governments as well as the travel and trade restrictions imposed by Australia and other countries in early 2020 
have caused disruption to businesses and economic activity. 
 
As the situation remains fluid (due to evolving changes in government policy and evolving business and 
customer reactions thereto) as at the date these financial statements are authorised for issue, the Board of 
Management considered that the financial effects of COVID-19 on the Entity's financial statements cannot be 
reasonably estimated for future financial periods. However, the Board of Management consider that the general 
economic impacts arising from COVID-19 are expected to have a negative impact on certain sections of the 
operations. It is likely to impact on certain market segments for the Entity's related entities. The economic 
effects arising from the COVID-19 outbreak are expected to affect the results of the Entity for the full year of 
2021. 
 
Environmental regulations 
The Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund’s operations are not regulated by any significant 
environmental regulation under a law of the Commonwealth or of any State or Territory. 
 
Contributions to the Scots’ Church General Fund 
In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2020, distributions of $438,204 were paid from the Building, 
Maintenance & Improvements Fund to the General Fund (2019: $429,698).  
 
Indemnification of officers and auditors 
During or since the financial year the Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund has not indemnified or 
made a relevant agreement to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Building, Maintenance & Improvements 
Fund or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor. In addition, the 
Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund has not paid, or agreed to pay, a premium in respect of a contract 
insuring against a liability incurred by an officer or auditor. 
 
Proceedings on behalf of the Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund 
No person has applied to leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Building, Maintenance & 
Improvements Fund or intervene in any proceedings to which the Building, Maintenance & Improvements 
Fund is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Building, Maintenance & Improvements 
Fund for all or any part of those proceedings. The Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund was not a 
party to any such proceedings during the financial year. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Board of 
Management of The Scots’ Church Building, 

Maintenance & Improvements Fund 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the financial report, being a special purpose financial report, of The Scots’ 
Church Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund (the “Entity”), which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, and the declaration statement by the board of management as set out 
on pages 7 to 20.  
 
In our opinion the accompanying financial report presents fairly in all material respects the 
Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with financial reporting requirements of the 
Board of Management of the entity and the accounting policies described in note 3.   
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Entity 
in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Board of Management of 
Scots’ Church and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Board of Management, which 
has been given to the Board of Management of the Entity, would be in the same terms if 
given to the Board of Management as at the time of this auditor’s report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 
 
Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution and Use  

We draw attention to Note 3 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. 
The financial report has been prepared to assist the Board of Management to meet the 
financial reporting requirements of the Board of Management.  As a result, the financial 
report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the Board 
of Management and should not be distributed or used by parties other than the Board of 
Management. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
A.B.N. 74 490 121 060 
 
477 Collins Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000 
PO Box 78B 
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia 
 
DX 111 
Tel:  +61 (0) 3 9671 7000 
Fax:  +61 (0) 3 9671 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 
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Other Information  
 
The Board of Management is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the board of management report, but does not include the financial report and 
our auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.  
 
Management and the Board of Management’s Responsibility for the Financial 
Report 
 

Management of the entity is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report and have determined that the basis of preparation described in Note [x], is 
appropriate to meet the financial reporting requirements of the board of management and 
is appropriate to meet the needs of the board of management.  Management’s responsibility 
also includes such internal control as management determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the ability of the 
Entity to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intend 
to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.   

The Board of Management is responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting 
process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of this financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:   
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.  

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the board of management.  
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the board of management’s use of the going 

concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity 
to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
 

 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 
Robert D D Collie 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Melbourne, 30 September 2020 
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 Note  
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 

Income     

Interest income   11,788 15,518 

Distribution from The Scots' Church Properties Trust   1,022,972 975,946 

Other income   7,706 10,000 

   1,042,466 1,001,464 

Expenses     

Contribution to The Scots' Church General Fund   (426,578) (429,698) 

Depreciation and amortisation   (38,988) (43,641) 

Employee benefits expense 4(c)  (169,490) (178,138) 

Maintenance 4(a)  (165,528) (177,692) 

Other expenses 4(b)  (64,904) (52,078) 

   (865,488) (881,247) 

     

Surplus before tax    176,978 120,217 

Income tax expense 3(g)  - - 

Surplus for the year   176,978 120,217 

     

Other comprehensive income     

Gain on revaluation of Organ 9  1,086 933 

Total comprehensive income for the year   178,064 121,150 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of financial position  
at 30 June 2020 
 

 
Note 

 2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 10(a)  740,679 649,861 

Receivable from related entities 5  1,022,972 975,946 

Trade and other receivables 5  14,550 12,168 

Total current assets   1,778,201 1,637,975 

Non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment 6  1,567,898 1,605,800 

Total non-current assets   1,567,898 1,605,800 

Total assets   3,346,099 3,243,775 

     

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables 7  16,768 109,302 

Provision for employee benefits 8  31,504 14,709 

Other provisions   30,944 30,945 

Total current liabilities   79,216 154,956 

Non- current liabilities   - - 

Total liabilities   79,216 154,956 

Net assets   3,266,883 3,088,819 

     

Equity     

Accumulated funds   1,861,533 1,684,555 

Reserves 9  1,405,350 1,404,264 

Total equity   3,266,883 3,088,819 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 Accumulated 
funds 

$ 

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve 
$ 

Total 
$ 

    

Balance at 1 July 2018 1,564,338 1,403,331 2,967,669 

Increase in fair value of organ - 933 933 

Income for the year 120,217 - 120,217 

Total comprehensive income for the year 120,217 933 121,150 

Balance at 30 June 2019 1,684,555 1,404,264 3,088,819 

    

Balance at 1 July 2019 1,684,555 1,404,264 3,088,819 

Increase in fair value of organ - 1,086 1,086 

Income for the year 176,978 - 176,978 

Total comprehensive income for the year 176,978 1,086 178,064 

Balance at 30 June 2020          1,861,533  1,405,350 
              

3,266,883 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 
Note 

 2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Receipts from The Scots' Church Properties Trust   946,655 741,863 

Payments to suppliers   (429,421) (325,553) 

Interest received   11,788 15,518 

Payments to The Scots' Church General Fund   (438,204) (429,613) 

Net cash generated by operating activities 10(b)  90,818 2,215 

     

Cash flows from investing activities   - - 

Net cash generated by investing activities   - - 

     

Cash flows from financing activities   - - 

Net cash generated by financing activities   - - 

     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   90,818 2,215 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   649,861 647,646 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 10(a)  740,679 649,861 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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1.  General information 
 
The Scots’ Church Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund’s registered office and principal place of 
business are as follows: 

The Scots’ Church Melbourne  
1/156 Collins Street  
MELBOURNE VIC  3000  

 
 
2.  Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards 
2.1 Amendments to Accounting Standards that are mandatorily effective for the current reporting 
period 
The entity has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for an accounting 
period that begins on or after 1 July 2019. 
 
2.2 New and revised Australian Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Entity has not applied the following new 
and revised Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective. 
 

 

Standard/Interpretation Effective for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or after

AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of a 
Business 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2018-7 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of 
Material’ 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – References to the 
Conceptual Framework 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2019-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Interest Rate 
Benchmark Reform’ 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2019-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of the 
Effect of New IFRS Standards Not Yet Issued in Australia’ 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification 
of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 

1 January 2022 

AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual 
Improvements 2018-2020 and Other Amendments 

1 January 2022 

AASB 2020-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions 

1 June 2020 

 

 
The potential effect of the revised standards/interpretations on The Scots’ Church Building, Maintenance & 
Improvements Fund of the other standards on issue not yet effective has not yet been determined. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies  
 
Financial reporting framework 
The Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund is not a reporting entity because in the opinion of the Board 
of Management there are unlikely to exist users of the financial report who are unable to command the 
preparation of reports tailored so as to satisfy specifically all of their information needs. Accordingly, this 
‘special purpose financial report’ has been prepared to satisfy the Board of Management’s reporting 
requirements. 
 
For the purpose of the financial report this entity is a not for profit entity. 
 
Statement of compliance 
The financial report has been prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement requirements 
specified by all Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and the disclosure requirements of 
Accounting Standards AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statement, AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows, 
AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and AASB 1054 Australian 
Additional Disclosures. 
 
Basis of preparation 
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain non-
current assets and financial instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange 
for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.  

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Entity takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into 
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.  
 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
In the application of the Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund’s accounting policies, which are described 
below, the Board of Management are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
Depreciation and useful lives 
Judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements concern depreciation rates.  These are reviewed annually to ensure that assets are being 
appropriately depreciated.  No key assumptions have been made concerning the future and there are no other key 
sources of estimation at the balance date that has a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.  Useful lives and residual value of property, plant 
and equipment are reviewed annually.  Judgment is applied in determining the useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment.  Any reassessment of useful lives and residual value in a particular year will affect depreciation 
expense (either increasing or decreasing) from the date of reassessment through to the end of the reassessed useful 
life for both the current and future years. 
 
Management judgement is also applied in determining the provision for long service leave using the following 
key assumptions used in the calculation at reporting date: 

 future increases in salaries and wages; 
 future on cost rates; and 
 experience of employee departures and period of service.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the 
financial report: 
 
(a) Income 
The Entity applies AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers. 
 
AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not-for-profit (NFP) 
entities, in conjunction with AASB 15. The new income recognition requirements shift the focus from a 
reciprocal/non-reciprocal basis to a basis of assessment that considers the enforceability of a contract and the 
specificity of performance obligations. 
 
The core principle of the income recognition requirements in AASB 1058 is when a NFP entity enters into 
transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less than the fair value of the asset 
principally to enable the entity to further its objectives, the excess of the asset recognised (at fair value) over any 
‘related amounts’ is recognised as income immediately. 
 
Under AASB 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
'control' of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. 
AASB 15 introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition, which is more prescriptive than AASB 118. 
 

•  Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer. 
•  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract. 
•  Step 3: Determine the transaction price. 
•  Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. 
•  Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 

 
AASB 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for income arising from 
contracts with customers. 
The Entity recognises income from the following major source:  
 
Distribution from The Scots' Church Properties Trust 
Distribution income from The Scots' Church Properties Trust is recognised when the beneficiaries' rights to 
receive the payment has been established. 
 
(b) Expenses 
Contribution to The Scots' Church General Fund 
Contributions to The Scots’ Church General Fund are intended to cover expenses incurred by General Fund due 
to running of the Church and were approved by the General Assembly in October 2004. 
 
(c) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash in banks. 
 
(d) Financial assets and liabilities 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial 
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

Financial assets 

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the 
time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial assets are 
measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost. 
 
Classification of financial assets 
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost: 

 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
The Entity’s financial assets include trade receivables, loans and other receivables and are recorded at amortised 
cost less impairment. 

Amortised cost and effective interest method 

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition 
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any 
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss 
allowance. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. 

 For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit‑impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are 
credit‑impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of 
the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument 
on initial recognition. For purchased or originated credit‑impaired financial assets, a credit‑adjusted effective 
interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 

 
Impairment of financial assets 
The Entity recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on trade receivables and related party receivables. 
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 
recognition of the respective financial instrument. 
 
The Entity always recognises lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) for trade receivables and related party 
receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on 
the Entity’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting 
date, including time value of money where appropriate. 
 
Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a financial instrument. During 2020, no impairment of trade receivables has been recorded (2019: 
nil). 
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default 
and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As 
for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the 
reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting 
date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default date determined 
based on historical trend, the Entity’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and 
other relevant forward-looking information.  
 
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that 
are due to the Entity in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Entity expects to receive, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.  
 
If the Entity has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the 
previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no 
longer met, the Entity measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting 
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.  
 
The Entity recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding 
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account. 
 

Derecognition of financial assets 
The Entity derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to 
another Entity. If the Entity neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and 
continues to control the transferred asset, the Entity recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Entity retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of a transferred financial asset, the Entity continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.  
 
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.  
 
Financial liabilities  
Financial liabilities, including trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Building, 
Maintenance & Improvements Fund becomes obliged to make future payments resulting from the purchase of 
goods and services. These are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. All financial liabilities are 
measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

 
Derecognition 
The Entity derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Entity’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and 
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
Offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
(e) Property, plant and equipment 

Organ Rieger Orgelbau 
The Organ Rieger Orgelbau is held at fair value. The Board of Management receives an independent valuation on 
an annual basis.  Any changes in fair value are recorded through the asset revaluation reserve. 

Other property, plant and equipment 
Other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. 
 
Property, plant and equipment purchased prior to 1 January 1996 has not been capitalised.  Any property, plant 
and equipment purchased prior to this date was expensed as purchased. 
 
The following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation: 

Plant and equipment 5 – 10 years Straight line 

Furniture, fixtures and fittings 10 years Straight line 

Organ 100 years Straight line 

Improvements 10 years Straight line 

   
The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
(f) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund has a present obligation, the 
future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provisions can be measured reliably. The 
amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at reporting date, taking in to account the risks and the uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision 
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value 
of those cash flows. 

 
(g) Income tax 

The Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund is exempt from income tax under Section 50-5 of the Income 
Tax Assessment Act 1997. 

 
(h) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except: 

i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised 
as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 
 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables. Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is classified as operating cash flows. 
 
(i) Impairment of tangible assets 
At each reporting date, the board of management assess whether there is objective evidence that a tangible asset 
has been impaired. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
(i) Impairment (cont’d) 
In respect of not-for-profit entities, where the future economic benefits of an asset are not primarily dependent on 
the assets ability to generate net cash inflows and where the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its 
remaining future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciable replacement cost of an asset 
less, where applicable, accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already 
consumed or expired future economic benefits of the asset. The current replacement cost of an asset is its cost 
measured by reference to the lowest cost at which the gross future economic benefits of that asset could currently 
be obtained in the normal course of business. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately. Where 
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of 
its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case 
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

 
(j) Employee benefits 
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, superannuation, 
annual leave, and long service leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of 
being measured reliably. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at 
their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are 
measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the entity in respect of services 
provided by employees up to reporting date. Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are 
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. 
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4.  Expenses    

(a) Maintenance    

Building  31,649 27,514 

Cleaning  30,882 50,360 

External  8,915 7,265 

Manse maintenance  12,395 17,639 

Organ tuning  670 3,649 

Other building works  64,304 60,112 

Sound system  5,865 1,225 

Waste disposal  8,330 9,928 

Electrical   2,518 - 

  165,528 177,692 

(b) Other expenses    

Security and fire system  19,385 19,302 

Consulting and professional fees  33,893 32,862 

Related party loss allowance  11,626 - 

  64,904 52,164 

(c) Employee benefits    

Fringe benefits tax expense  9,039 29,581 

Salaries and wages  146,007 113,791 

Other employee benefits provided  14,444 34,766 

  169,490 178,138 
 

5.  Trade and other receivables    

Current    

Receivables from The Scots' Church Properties Trust  1,022,972 975,946 

Loan to related party – The Scots’ Church General Fund  - 36,000 

Loss allowance  - (36,000) 

  1,022,972 975,946 

    

Trade receivables  14,550 12,168 

  14,550 12,168 

Non-current    

Loan to related party – The Scots’ Church General Fund  364,481 316,855 

Loss allowance  (364,481) (316,855) 

  - - 
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6.  Property, plant and equipment 

 
  

Organ Rieger Orgelbau – at fair value (i)  1,498,608 1,513,746 

    

Plant and equipment - at cost  90,945 90,945 

Accumulated depreciation  (90,945) (90,945) 

  - - 

    
Furniture, fixtures and fittings – at cost  194,706 194,706 

Accumulated depreciation  (194,426) (188,316) 

  280 6,390 

    
Improvements - at cost  187,782 187,782 

Accumulated depreciation  (118,772) (102,118) 

  69,010 85,664 

Total property, plant and equipment  1,567,898 1,605,800 

    

(i) The Board of Management have determined to measure the Organ Rieger Orgelbau at the fair value based on 
an independent valuation received from Rieger Orgelbau GmBH. The Organ Rieger Orgelbau was revalued in 
2008 by Rieger Orgelbau GmBH.  The Board of Management have obtained a confirmation from Rieger 
Orgelbau, confirming the carrying value continues to reflect the fair value of the Organ Rieger Orgelbau as at 30 
June 2020. 

 

7.  Trade and other payables    

Trade payables  2,398 65,642 

Related party payable – The Scots Church General Fund  14,370 43,660 

  16,768 109,302 
 

 

8. Provisions    

Employee benefits   31,504 14,709 

  31,504 14,709 

The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave and vested long service leave entitlements 
accrued. 
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9.  Asset revaluation reserve    

Balance at the beginning of the year  1,404,264 1,403,331 

Revaluations during the year  1,086 933 

Balance at the end of the year  1,405,350 1,404,264 
 
 

 
The asset revaluation reserve records the revaluation of the Organ to a valuation in accordance with an 
independent valuation.  The valuation as provided by Rieger – Orgelbau GmBH confirmed the carrying 
value continues to reflect the fair value of the Organ Rieger Orgelbau as at 30 June 2020. 

 

10.  Cash and cash equivalents     

(a)  Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks 
and investments in money market instruments. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as 
shown in the statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial 
position as follows: 

JB Were Cash Management Trust   644,459 607,817 

Cash at bank   96,220 42,044 

   740,679 649,861 
 

(b)  Reconciliation of surplus for the year to net cash flows from operating activities 

Surplus for the year  176,978 120,217 

Depreciation   38,988 43,641 

Movement in working capital:    

(Increase)/decrease in assets:    

Trade and other receivables  (2,382) (5,431) 

The Scots’ Church Properties Trust  (47,027) (234,083) 
    

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:    

Employee benefit provisions  16,795 21,574 

The Scots’ Church General Fund  (29,290)  

Trade and other payables  (63,244) 56,297 

Net cash provided by operating activities  90,818 2,215 
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11.  Commitments and contingent assets    
There were no commitments or contingent liabilities at 30 June 2020. 
 
The entity has provided a letter of support to enable The Scots’ Church General Fund to be able to pay its debts 
as and when they fall due for a period of 12 months from the signing of The Scots’ Church General Fund financial 
statements. 

 

12.  Auditor’s remuneration    

Audit of the financial statements   15,621 14,417 

   15,621 14,417 

The auditor of the Building, Maintenance & Improvements Fund is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. 

 
13.  Subsequent events 

The Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) was declared a pandemic in March 2020 by the World Health Organisation 
(WHO).  The outbreak of COVID-19 and the subsequent quarantine measures imposed by the Australian and other 
Governments as well as the travel and trade restrictions imposed by Australia and other countries in early 2020 
have caused disruption to business and economic activity. 
 
Subsequent to the end of the financial year, the entity has applied and been granted COVID-19 Government 
assistance in the formal of the receipt of Job Keeper and COVID-19 cash boost payments. 
 
There has not been any other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year that has 
significantly affected, or may significantly affect the operations of the fund, the results of those operations, or the 
state of affairs of the fund in future financial years. 
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Board of Management’s report 
 
The Board of Management of The Scots' Church Melbourne ("The Scots' Church") submit the annual report of The Scots' 
Church Investment & Special Purposes Fund ("the Investment & Special Purposes Fund") for the financial year ended 30 
June 2020. 
 
The names of the Board of Management of the Investment & Special Purposes Fund during or since the end of the financial 
year are: 
 

Ruling Elders    
Miss D. Rae Anstee AM DSJ 1983 - present Mr Andrew McDonald 2014 - present 
Mr Peter Armstrong 2014 - present Mr Craig McIntosh 2005 - present 
Dr Charles C Castle 1987 - present Mr Graham Nixon 1993 - present 
Mr Dennis Conradi 2005 - present Mr James F Nuske 2005 - present  
Mr Bruce C Evans 1993 - present Dr Sol Sahhar 2007 - present 
Mr David Gibb 2014 - present Dr Douglas Sherman 2005 - present 
Mr Graeme Harris 2003 - present Mr Gordon Taylor 1987 - present  
Mrs Helen A Holman 1983 - present Mrs Lois Taylor 1993 - present 
Mr Paul Kerss 2007 - present Mr Wayne Truong 2014 – present 
Mr Barry Kilmartin 2003 - present Professor Sen Sendjaya 2010 - present 
Mr Robert Lowe 2003 - present   
    
Teaching Elders    
Rev Richard O’Brien 2003 - present Rev Christian Tirtha Indonesian Church 
Rev Douglas Robertson 2001 - 2020 Rev Andrew Wong St Stephens and Mission 
Rev Philip Court 2020 - present   
    
Managers    
Dr Caroline Allinson 2018 - present Mrs Margaret E Lowe 2016 - present 
Ms Lillian Chuah 2009 - present Miss Lauris Murnane 2010 - present  
Ms Elizabeth Charles 2017 - present Ms Barbara Noisette 2017 - present 
Mrs Margaret Conradi 2005 - present Ms Jennifer Pilgrim 2009 - present 
Mr Sonal Herlekar 2020 - Present Mrs Danise Sherman 2018 - present 
Mrs Judith Kilmartin 1993 - present Ms Rosalie Strother 2014 - present 
Dr Elizabeth Lewis AM 2010 - present Mrs Jodie Tregale 2007 - present 
Session Clerk    
Mr Peter Armstong 2018 - present   
 
Honorary Secretary 
Dr Douglas Sherman 1997 – present   
    
Honorary Treasurer    
Mr James Nuske 1997 - present   
    

 
Principal activities 
The principal activities of the Investment & Special Purposes Fund during the financial year were the investment and 
maintenance of bequests and endowments to The Scots' Church. No significant change in the nature of these activities 
occurred during the financial year. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Board of 

Management of The Scots’ Church Investment and 
Special Purposes Fund 

 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the financial report, being a special purpose financial report, of The Scots’ 
Church Investment and Special Purposes Fund (the “Entity”), which comprises the statement 
of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, and the declaration statement by the board of management as set out 
on pages 7 to 17. 
 
In our opinion the accompanying financial report presents fairly in all material respects the 
Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with financial reporting requirements of the 
Board of Management of entity and the accounting policies described in note 3.   
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Entity 
in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Board of Management of 
Scots’ Church and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 
 
Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution and Use  

We draw attention to Note 3 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. 
The financial report has been prepared to assist the Board of Management to meet the 
financial reporting requirements of the Board of Management.  As a result, the financial 
report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the Board 
of Management and should not be distributed or used by parties other than the Board of 
Management. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
A.B.N. 74 490 121 060 
 
477 Collins Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000 
PO Box 78B 
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia 
 
DX 111 
Tel:  +61 (0) 3 9671 7000 
Fax:  +61 (0) 3 9671 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 
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Other Information  
 
The Board of Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the board of management report, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report 
thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Management for the Financial Report 
 
Management of the entity is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report and have determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 3, is appropriate to 
meet the financial reporting requirements of the board of management and is appropriate to meet 
the needs of the board of management.  Management’s responsibility also includes such internal 
control as management determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the ability of the Entity 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intend to liquidate the Entity 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.   

The Board of Management is responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:   
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.  

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.  

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the board of management.  
  



 

 
5 

 
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the board of management’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.  
 
 
 

 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 
Robert D D Collie 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Melbourne, 30 September 2020 
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 Note 
 

 
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 

Income      

Dividend income    112,622 251,834 

Unrealised gain on revaluation of financial assets    - 42,856 

Interest income    16,492 12,381 

    129,114 307,071 

Expenses      

Brokerage    (17,513) (22,064) 

Loss on disposal of financial assets    (7,744) (76,542) 

Scholarship expenses (Indigenous students at 
Presbyterian Ladies College)  

 
 (59,199) (59,849) 

Unrealised loss on revaluation of financial assets    (209,489) - 

Other expenses    (64,480) (45,344) 

    (358,425) (203,799) 

      

(Deficit)/surplus before tax    (229,311) 103,272 

Income tax expense 3(g)   - - 

(Deficit)/surplus for the year    (229,311) 103,272 

      

Other comprehensive income    - - 

Total comprehensive (loss)/ income for the year    (229,311) 103,272 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of financial position  
at 30 June 2020 
 

 
Note 

 2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 8(a)  106,867 275,119 

Trade and other receivables 4  23,990 54,752 

Total current assets   130,857 329,871 

Non-current assets     

Investments 5  2,318,947 2,357,555 

Total non-current assets   2,318,947 2,357,555 

Total assets   2,449,804 2,687,426 

     

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables 6  15,928 24,239 

Total current liabilities   15,928 24,239 

Total liabilities   15,928 24,239 

Net assets   2,433,876 2,663,187 

     

Equity     

Accumulated funds 7  2,433,876 2,663,187 

Total equity   2,433,876 2,663,187 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

     

 
 Accumulated 

funds  
$ 

Total  
$ 

    

Balance at 1 July 2018  2,559,915 2,559,915 

Surplus for the year  103,272 103,272 

Total comprehensive income for the year  103,272 103,272 

Balance at 30 June 2019  2,663,187 2,663,187 

    

Balance at 1 July 2019  2,663,187 2,663,187 

Deficit for the year  (229,311) (229,311) 

Other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (229,311) (229,311) 

Distributions to beneficiaries  - - 

Balance at 30 June 2020  2,433,876 2,433,876 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 
Note 

 2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Dividend income (including imputation credits received)   143,383 244,636 

Payments to suppliers   (149,503) (116,503) 

Interest received   16,492 12,381 

Net cash generated by operating activities 7(b)  10,372 140,514 

     

Cash flows from investing activities     

Net proceeds from sale of investments   (178,624) 16,179 

Net cash (used in) /generated by investing activities   (178,624) 16,179 

     

Cash flows from financing activities   - - 

Net cash from financing activities   - - 

     

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents   (168,252) 156,693 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   275,119 118,426 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7(a)  106,867 275,119 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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1.  General information 
 
The Scots’ Church Investment & Special Purposes Fund’s (“the Investment & Special Purposes Fund”) registered 
office and principal place of business are as follows: 

The Scots’ Church Melbourne  
1/156 Collins Street  
MELBOURNE VIC  3000  

 
2.  Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards 
 
2.1 Amendments to Accounting Standards that are mandatorily effective for the current reporting period 
 
The Investment & Special Purposes Fund has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective 
for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 July 2019. 

2.2 New and revised Australian Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective  
 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Investment & Special Purposes Fund has not applied 
the following new and revised Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective. 
 

Standard/Interpretation 
Effective for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or after 

AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of a 
Business 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2018-7 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of 
Material’ 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – References to 
the Conceptual Framework 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2019-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Interest Rate 
Benchmark Reform’ 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2019-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of 
the Effect of New IFRS Standards Not Yet Issued in Australia’ 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 

1 January 2022 

AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual 
Improvements 2018-2020 and Other Amendments 

1 January 2022 

AASB 2020-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions 

1 June 2020 

 
The potential effect of the revised standards/interpretations on The Scots’ Church Investment and Special 
Purpose Fund of the other standards on issue not yet effective has not yet been determined. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies  
Financial reporting framework 

The Investment & Special Purposes Fund is not a reporting entity because in the opinion of the Board of 
Management there are unlikely to exist users of the financial report who are unable to command the preparation 
of reports tailored so as to satisfy specifically all of their information needs. Accordingly, this ‘special purpose 
financial report’ has been prepared to satisfy the Board of Management’s reporting requirements.  For the purpose 
of this financial report the Investment & Special Purposes Fund is a not for profit entity. 
 
Statement of compliance 

The financial report has been prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement requirements 
specified by all Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and the disclosure requirements of 
Accounting Standards  
 
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows, AASB 108 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures.  
 
Basis of preparation 

The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain non-
current assets and financial instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange 
for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.  
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Investment 
& Special Purposes Fund takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would 
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.  
 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the Investment & Special Purposes Fund’s accounting policies, which are described below, 
the Board of Management are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. 
 
Any estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. No key judgments have 
been made within the report and assumptions have been made concerning the future and there are no other key 
sources of estimation at the balance date that has a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
 
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the 
financial report: 
 
(a) Income  
The Investment & Special Purposes Fund applies AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. 
 
AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not-for-profit (NFP) 
entities, in conjunction with AASB 15. The new income recognition requirements shift the focus from a 
reciprocal/non-reciprocal basis to a basis of assessment that considers the enforceability of a contract and the 
specificity of performance obligations. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(a) Income (cont’d) 
The core principle of the income recognition requirements in AASB 1058 is when a NFP the Investment & 
Special Purposes Fund enters into transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less 
than the fair value of the asset principally to enable the Investment & Special Purposes Fund to further its 
objectives, the excess of the asset recognised (at fair value) over any ‘related amounts’ is recognised as income 
immediately. 
 
Under AASB 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
'control' of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. 
AASB 15 introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition, which is more prescriptive than AASB 118. 
 

•  Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer. 
•  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract. 
•  Step 3: Determine the transaction price. 
•  Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. 
•  Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Investment & Special Purposes Fund satisfies a 
performance obligation. 

 
AASB 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for income arising from 
contracts with customers. 
 
The Investment & Special Purposes Fund  recognises income from the following major sources:  
 
Dividends 
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders' rights to receive the payment has been 
established. 
 
Investment trust distributions 
Distribution income from the trusts is recognised when the unitholders' rights to receive the payment has been 
established. 

 
(b) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash in banks. 
 
(c) Financial assets and Liabilities 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Investment & Special Purposes Fund  becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial 
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.  
 
Financial assets 
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial assets are 
measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost. 
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3.   Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(c) Financial assets and liabilities (cont’d) 
Classification of financial assets 
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost: 
 
 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order 

to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 

 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
The Investment & Special Purposes Fund’s financial assets include trade receivables, investment, loans and other 
receivables and are recorded at amortised cost less impairment. 
 
Amortised cost and effective interest method 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period.  
 
For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit‑impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are 
credit‑impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected 
life of 
the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument 
on initial recognition. For purchased or originated credit‑impaired financial assets, a credit‑adjusted effective 
interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
 
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition 
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any 
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss 
allowance. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The Investment & Special Purposes Fund  recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade 
receivables. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit 
risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument. 
 
The Investment & Special Purposes Fund  always recognises lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) for trade 
receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on 
the Investment & Special Purposes Fund’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific 
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction 
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. 
 
Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a financial instrument. During 2020, no impairment of trade receivables has been recorded (2019: 
nil). 
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3.    Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
(d) Financial assets and liabilities (cont’d) 
Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default 
and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for 
the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting 
date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together 
with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on historical 
trend, the Investment & Special Purposes Fund’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, 
and other relevant forward-looking information.  
 
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are 
due to the Investment & Special Purposes Fund in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the 
Investment & Special Purposes Fund expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  
 
If the Investment & Special Purposes Fund has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount 
equal to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions 
for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Investment & Special Purposes Fund measures the loss allowance at an amount 
equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.  
 
The Investment & Special Purposes Fund recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial 
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account. 
 
Derecognition of financial assets 
The Investment & Special Purposes Fund derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another Investment & Special Purposes Fund. If the Investment & Special Purposes Fund 
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred 
asset, the Investment & Special Purposes Fund recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability 
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Investment & Special Purposes Fund retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Investment & Special Purposes Fund continues to recognise 
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.  
 
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.  

 
Financial liabilities  
Financial liabilities, including trade payables and related party payable are recognised when the Building, Maintenance 
& Improvements Fund becomes obliged to make future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services. 
These are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. All financial liabilities are measured subsequently 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

 
Derecognition 
The Investment & Special Purposes Fund derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Investment & 
Special Purposes Fund’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying 
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
Offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(e) Investments 

Investments are recognised when the Investment and Special Purpose Fund becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments. Trade date accounting is adopted for financial assets that are delivered within timeframe 
established by marketplace convention. 
 
Investments are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is transferred 
to another party whereby the Church no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and benefits 
associated with the asset. 
 
Investments are classified at fair value through profit or loss.  Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value are included in surplus or deficit in the period in which they arise. Fair value is determined based 
on current bid prices for all quoted investments.  The fair value of investments in managed investment schemes is 
determined as the redemption price of the investment scheme as established by the underlying scheme's Responsible 
Investment & Special Purposes Fund at the reporting date. 

 
(f) Impairment 
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each 
reporting date. Financial assets are impaired only where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset have been impacted. 
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset's 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets including uncollectable trade receivables is reduced by the impairment loss 
through the use of an allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 
the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss. 

 
(g) Income tax 
The Investment & Special Purposes Fund is exempt from income tax under Section 50-5 of the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997. 

 
(h) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except: 
i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the 

cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 
ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 

 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables. 
 
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as 
operating cash flows.
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4.  Trade and other receivables    

Trade receivables  2,897 4,647 

Other receivables  21,093 50,105 

  23,990 54,752 
 

5.  Investments    

Listed equities  2,064,520 2,103,128 

Fixed interest securities  254,427 254,427 

  2,318,947 2,357,555 

6.  Trade and other payables    

Trade payables  - 4,105 

Related party payable – The Scots’ Church General Fund  15,928 20,134 

  15,928 24,239 

 

7.  Cash and cash equivalents 

(a)  Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents  

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in 
banks and investments in money market instruments. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items in the 
statement of financial position as follows: 

JB Were Securities Trust  106,867 275,119 
 

(b)  Reconciliation of (deficit)/surplus for the year to net cash flows from operating activities 

(Deficit)/surplus for the year  (229,311) 103,272 

Net realised loss on disposal of investments  7,744 76,542 

Unrealised loss /(gain) on revaluation of financial assets  209,489 (42,856) 
    

Movement in working capital:    

Decrease/(increase) in assets:    

Trade and other receivables  30,761 (7,198) 

    

(Decrease)/increase in liabilities:    

Trade and other payables  (8,311) 10,754 

Net cash generated by operating activities  10,372 140,514 
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8.  Commitments and contingencies 
 

   
 
There were no commitments or contingent liabilities at 30 June 2020. 

    

9.  Auditor’s remuneration    

Audit of the financial statements   15,624 14,417 

   15,624 14,417 
 

The auditor of The Scots’ Church Investment & Special Purposes Fund is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. 
 
 
10.  Subsequent events 

The Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) has been declared a pandemic in March 2020 by the World Health 
Organisation (WHO). The outbreak of COVID-19 and the subsequent quarantine measures imposed by the 
Australian and other governments as well as the travel and trade restrictions imposed by Australia and other 
countries in early 2020 have caused disruption to businesses and economic activity.  

 
As the situation remains fluid (due to continuing changes in government policy and evolving business and  
customer reactions thereto) as at the date these financial statements are authorised for issue, the Board of 
Management considered that the financial effects of COVID-19 on the financial statements cannot be 
reasonably estimated. 
 
However, the Board of Management do not consider the impact to likely compromise the ability of the entity 
to continue operating for the foreseeable future.  
 
Other than above, there have not been any matters or circumstances occurring subsequent to the end of the 
financial year that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the consolidated 
entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the entity in future financial years. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Board of 
Management of The Scots’ Church – Indonesian 

Christian Church 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Qualified Opinion  
 
We have audited the financial report, being a special purpose financial report, of The Scots’ 
Church – Indonesian Christian Church (the “Entity”), which comprises the statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2019, the income and expenditure statement and 
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the declaration 
statement by the Board of Management on pages 4 to 9. 
 
In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis of Qualified Opinion 
section of our report, the accompanying financial report of the Entity presents fairly, in all 
material respects the Entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2019 and its financial 
performance for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements 
of the Board of Management and the accounting policies described in Note 2.   
 
Basis for Qualified Opinion 
 
Offering and tithe collections and camp fees are significant sources of fundraising revenue 
for the Entity.  The Entity has determined that it is impracticable to establish control over 
the collections of offering, tithe and camp fees prior to entry into its financial records.  
Accordingly, as the evidence available to us regarding fundraising revenue from these 
sources was limited, our audit procedures with respect to offering, tithe collections and camp 
fee fundraising revenue had to be restricted to the amounts recorded in the financial records.  
We therefore are unable to express an opinion whether offering, tithe collections and camp 
fees fundraising revenue of the Entity recorded, is complete. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Entity 
in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Board of Management of 
Scots’ Church and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our qualified opinion.
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Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution and Use  
 
We draw attention to Note 2 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. 
The financial report has been prepared to assist the Board of Management to meet the 
financial reporting requirements of the Board of Management.  As a result, the financial 
report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the Board 
of Management and should not be distributed or used by parties other than the Board of 
Management. Our opinion is not further modified in respect of this matter.  
 
Other Information  
 
The Board of Management are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the board of management report but does not include the financial report and our 
auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information; we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Responsibilities of Board of Management’s for the Financial Report 
 
The Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report and have determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 2, is 
appropriate to meet the Board of Management’s financial reporting requirements and is 
appropriate to meet the needs of the members.  The Board of Management’s responsibility 
also includes such internal control as management determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial report, the Board of Management is responsible for assessing the 
ability of the Entity to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of 
Management either intend to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  
 
The Board of Management are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting 
process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of this financial report. 
 

 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:   
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• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.  

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Management.  
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Management’s use of the going concern 

basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to 
continue as a going concern.  

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 

the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
We communicate with the Board of Management regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
 

 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 
Robert D D Collie 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
 
Melbourne, 30 September 2020
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Income and expenditure statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 
 

 Notes  
2019 

$ 
2018 

$ 

Continuing operations     

Revenue 3  195,008 170,375 

Administration costs   (37,076) (29,597) 

Camp expenses   (25,994) (21,335) 

Remuneration   (85,322) (83,542) 

Surplus before tax    16,616 35,901 

Income tax expense 2(a)  - - 

Net surplus for the year   16,616 35,901 

     
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of financial position 
at 31 December 2019 
 

 
Notes  

2019 
$ 

2018 
$ 

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 4  250,186 233,514 

Total current assets   250,186 233,514 

Total assets   250,186 233,514 

     

Current liabilities     

Trade payables   56 - 

Total current liabilities   56 - 

Total liabilities   56 - 

Net assets   250,130 233,514 

     

Equity     

Retained earnings   250,130 233,514 

Total equity   250,130 233,514 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 
 

 
 

Retained 
Earnings 

$ 
Total 

$ 

    

Balance at 1 January 2018  197,613 197,613 

Surplus for the year  35,901 35,901 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  35,901 35,901 

Balance at 31 December 2018  233,514 233,514 

    

Balance at 1 January 2019  233,514 233,514 

Surplus for the year  16,616 16,616 

Total comprehensive income for the year  250,130 250,130 

Balance at 31 December 2019  250,130 250,130 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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1.  General information 
 
The Scots’ Church – Indonesian Christian Church’s registered office and principal place of business are as 
follows: 

Scots’ Church – Indonesian Christian Church  
1/156 Collins Street  
MELBOURNE  VIC  3000  

 
2.  Significant accounting policies  
 
Financial reporting framework 
The Indonesian Christian Church is not a reporting entity because in the opinion of the Board there are 
unlikely to exist users of the financial report who are unable to command the preparation of report tailored 
so as to satisfy specifically all of their information needs. Accordingly, these special purpose financial 
statements have been prepared to satisfy the Board’s reporting requirements. 
 
For the purpose of preparing the financial statements, the Indonesian Christian Church is a not for-profit 
entity. 
 
Basis of preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared on a cash basis. All amounts are presented in Australian 
dollars, unless otherwise noted.  

 
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the 
financial report:  

 
(a) Income tax 

The Indonesian Christian Church is exempt for income tax purposes. 
 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 

(c) Revenue 
Revenue is recognised when received. 
 

(d)   Remuneration 
        Remuneration expense represents a recharge from The Scots’ Church General Fund for the services of 

a Minister.  
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3.  Revenue    

Offering and tithe  143,287 148,754 

Camp fees  17,950 15,774 

Interest received  576 837 

Other income  34,487 5,010 

  196,300 170,375 

    

4.  Cash and cash equivalents    

Cash at bank   250,186 233,514 

     

5.  Subsequent events    

The outbreak of COVID-19 and the subsequent quarantine measures imposed by the Australian and 
other governments as well as the travel and trade restrictions imposed by Australia and other countries 
in early 2020 have caused disruption to businesses and economic activity. The entity considers this to 
be a non-adjusting post balance sheet event and accordingly the financial effects of COVID-19 have not 
been reflected in the entity’s financial statements at 31 December 2019.  
 
As the situation remains fluid (due to evolving changes in government policy and congregation reactions 
thereto) as at the date these financial statements are authorised for issue, the board of management of 
the entity considered that the financial effects of COVID-19 on the entity's financial statements cannot 
be reasonably estimated for future financial periods. However, the Board of Management consider that 
the general economic impacts arising from COVID-19 are expected to have a negative impact on the 
operations of some of the entity’s operations. This in turn may negatively affect the revenue of the entity.    
 
The economic effects arising from the COVID-19 outbreak are expected to affect the results of the entity 
for 2020.   
 
No other matter or circumstance has occurred subsequent to year end that has significantly affected, or 
may significantly affect, the operations of the entity, the results of those operations or the state of affairs 
of the entity in subsequent financial years. 
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Trustees’ report 
 
The Directors of the trustee company (Scots’ Church Board of Management Limited) of Scots’ Church 
Board of Management 63% interest in Assembly Hall (the "Trust") submit herewith the annual report of 
the Scots’ Church Board of Management 63% interest in Assembly Hall for the financial year 30 June 
2020.  In order to comply with the trustees’ reporting requirements, the directors of the corporate trustee 
report as follows: 
 
The names of the Directors of the trust during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 

Mr Craig McIntosh 2017 – present
Mr Graham Nixon 2017 – present
Mr Solomon Sahhar 2017 – present

 
The above named Directors held office during and since the end of the financial year unless otherwise 
stated. 
 
 
Principal activities 
The principal activities of the Trust during the financial year was the management of land and buildings. 
No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the financial year. 
 
 
Review of operations 
The results of the operations of the trust are disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income of these 
financial statements. The surplus for the financial year was $88,998 (2019: $50,032). 
 
 
Changes in state of affairs 
There was no significant change in the state of affairs of the trust during the financial year. 
 
 
Subsequent events 
The Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) was declared a pandemic in March 2020 by the World Health 
Organisation (WHO).  The outbreak of COVID-19 and the subsequent quarantine measures imposed by 
the Australian and other Governments as well as the travel and trade restrictions imposed by Australia 
and other countries in early 2020 have caused disruption to business and economic activity.  In early 
September 2020 the state of disaster in Victoria was extended until March 2021.  The unprecedented 
economic uncertainty created by COVID-19 makes it difficult for the Directors to reliably estimate the 
potential impact of the pandemic after the reporting date on, its operations, future results and financial 
position. 
 
At present there are ongoing negotiations between the Assembly Hall Management Committee and the 
tenants to provide COVID-19 rent relief for the period June 2020 to September 2020. 
 
Furthermore, on the 14th July The Scots’ Church Melbourne’s Board of Management formed a 
committee titled “Scots’ Church Assembly Hall Negotiation Committee” to enter in to negotiations with 
the “Ad hoc Negotiation of the Sale of the Assembly Hall Committee” to purchase the 37% ownership 
of the Assembly Hall held by the Presbyterian Church of Victoria. 
 
There has not been any other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial 
year that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Trust, the results of 
those operations, or the state of affairs of the Trust in future financial years. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Trustees of 
Scots’ Church Board of Management 63% interest in 

Assembly Hall 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the financial report, being a special purpose financial report, of Scots’ 
Church Board of Management 63% interest in Assembly Hall (the “Trust”) which comprises 
the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the declaration by 
the Board of Directors of the Trustee Company as set out on pages 7 to 18.  
  
In our opinion, the financial report of the Trust is in accordance with the Division 60 of the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (the ACNC Act), including: 
 
(a) giving a true and fair view of the Trust’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its 

financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 
 
(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 2, and 

Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Trust 
in accordance with the auditor independence requirements and the ethical requirements of 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 
Code.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 
 
Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution and Use   
 
We draw attention to Note 3 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. 
The financial report has been prepared for the purposes of fulfilling the directors’ financial 
reporting responsibilities under the ACNC Act.  Our report is intended solely for the Directors 
and the Australian Charities and Not for Profits Commission (ACNC) and should not be 
distributed or used by parties other than the Directors and ACNC.  As a result, the financial 
report may not be suitable for another purpose.  Our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter. 
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Other Information  
 
The Board of Directors of the Trustee Company are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the Trustees’ report, but does not include the financial 
report and our auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors of the Trustee Company for the Financial 
Report 
 
The Board of Directors of the Trustee Company are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and have determined that the basis of 
preparation and accounting policies described in Note 3 to the financial report is appropriate 
to meet the requirements of the Trust deed, the ACNC Act and is appropriate to meet the 
needs of the Trustee. The Directors of the Trustee Company’s responsibility also includes 
such internal control as the Directors of the Trustee company determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
   
In preparing the financial report, the Directors of the Trustee Company are responsible for 
assessing the ability of the Trust to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Directors of the Trustee Company either intend to liquidate the Trust or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The Directors are responsible for 
overseeing the Trust’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of this financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:   
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the trust’s internal control.  
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.  
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the trust’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the trust’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the trust to cease to continue 
as a going concern.  

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
We communicate with the Board of Directors of Trustee Company regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
 

 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 
Robert D D Collie 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Melbourne, 5 October 2020 
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 Notes  
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 

Income  

Rental income 252,528 218,539 

Other income - 11,899

Interest income - 13

 252,528 230,451

Expenses  

Cleaning 37,252 32,964 

Insurance 44,855 42,169

Legal  140 6,681

Professional fees 8,978 14,133

Rates and taxes 9,394 11,343

Repairs and maintenance 27,949 58,145

Water and electricity 3,403 4,143

Other expenses 4 31,599 10,841

 163,530 180,419

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 88,998 50,032

  

Other comprehensive income - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 88,998 50,032

  
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of financial position  
at 30 June 2020 
 

 
Notes

 2020
$

2019 
$ 

Current assets        

Cash and cash equivalents 8(a) 166,781 101,024

Other receivables 5 20,289 7,566

Total current assets  187,070 108,590

  

Non-current assets  

Property, plant and equipment 6 3,723,359 3,723,359

Total non-current assets 3,723,359 3,723,359

Total assets 3,910,429 3,831,949

 

Current liabilities  

Trade and other payables including related party payables 7 21,488 32,006

Total current liabilities  21,488 32,006

Total liabilities  21,488 32,006

Net assets 3,888,941 3,799,943

 

Trust funds  

Capital reserve 3,723,359 3,723,359

Accumulated funds 165,582 76,584

Total trust funds 3,888,941 3,799,943
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 
Accumulated 

Funds 
$ 

Capital 
reserve 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2018 26,552 3,723,359 3,749,911 

Transfer of Assembly Hall - - - 

Surplus for the year 50,032 - 50,032 

Other comprehensive income - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 50,032 - 50,032 

Balance at 30 June 2019 76,584 3,723,359 3,799,943 
 

Balance at 1 July 2019 76,584 3,723,359 3,799,943 

Transfer of Assembly Hall - - - 

Surplus for the year 88,998 - 88,998 

Other comprehensive income - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 88,998 - 88,998 

Balance at 30 June 2020 165,582 3,723,359 3,888,941 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 
Notes

2020 
$ 

2019 
$

Cash flows from operating activities    

Rent received 239,805 230,247

Other receipts - 11,912

Payments to suppliers  (174,048) (178,776)

Net cash generated by operating activities 8(b) 65,757 63,383

  

Cash flows from investing activities  

Net cash used in investing activities - -

  

Cash flows from financing activities  

Net cash used in financing activities - -

  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 65,757 63,383

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 101,024 37,641

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8(a) 166,781 101,024
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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1.  General information 
 
Scots’ Church Board of Management Limited’s (the “Trustee Company”) registered office and principal place of 
business are as follows: 

The Scots’ Church Melbourne  
1/156 Collins Street  
MELBOURNE  VIC  3000  

 
The Trustee Company was incorporated 5 May 2017 and the Trust commenced operations 7 April 2017. 
 
2.  Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards 
 
2.1 Amendments to Accounting Standards that are mandatorily effective for the current reporting period 
The Trust has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for an accounting period that begins on or 
after 1 July 2019. 
 
2.2 New and revised Australian Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Trust has not applied the following new and revised 
Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective. 
 

Standard/Interpretation Effective for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or after

AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of a 
Business 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2018-7 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of 
Material’ 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – References to the 
Conceptual Framework 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2019-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Interest Rate 
Benchmark Reform’ 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2019-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of the 
Effect of New IFRS Standards Not Yet Issued in Australia’ 

1 January 2020 

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification 
of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 

1 January 2022 

AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual 
Improvements 2018-2020 and Other Amendments 

1 January 2022 

AASB 2020-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions 

1 June 2020 

 

 
The potential effect of the revised standards/interpretations on Scots’ Church Board of Management 63% interest in 
Assembly Hall of the other standards on issue not yet effective has not yet been determined. 
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3. Significant accounting policies  
 
Financial reporting framework 
The Entity is not a reporting entity because in the opinion of the Directors, there are unlikely to exist users of the 
financial report who are unable to command the preparation of reports tailored so as to satisfy specifically all of their 
information needs. Accordingly, this ‘special purpose financial report’ has been prepared to satisfy the Director’s 
financial reporting requirements.  For the purpose of the financial report the trust is a not for profit entity. 
 
Basis of preparation 
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain non-current 
assets and financial instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. 
All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.  
 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, which are described below, the management is required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
Judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized 
in the financial statements concern depreciation rates.  These are reviewed annually to ensure that assets are being 
appropriately depreciated.  No key assumptions have been made concerning the future and there are no other key 
sources of estimation at the balance date that has a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
 
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial 
report: 
 
(a) Income 
 
The Trust applies AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers. 

AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not-for-profit (NFP) entities, 
in conjunction with AASB 15. The new income recognition requirements shift the focus from a reciprocal/non-
reciprocal basis to a basis of assessment that considers the enforceability of a contract and the specificity of 
performance obligations. 
 
The core principle of the income recognition requirements in AASB 1058 is when a NFP entity enters into 
transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less than the fair value of the asset principally 
to enable the Trust to further its objectives, the excess of the asset recognised (at fair value) over any ‘related 
amounts’ is recognised as income immediately. 
 
Under AASB 15, a trust recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 'control' of 
the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. AASB 15 
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition, which is more prescriptive than AASB 118. 

 
•  Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer. 
•  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract. 
•  Step 3: Determine the transaction price. 
•  Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. 
•  Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Trust satisfies a performance obligation. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(a)    Income (cont’d) 
 
AASB 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for income arising from 
contracts with customers. 
 
The Trust recognises income from the following major source: 
 

Rent received 
Revenue from rental properties is recognised based upon the amount that has been invoiced and collected.  
 

(b) Expenses 
Expenses in the year in which they are incurred. 
 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash in banks, net of outstanding bank overdrafts and 
credit cards. 
 

(d) Financial assets and labilities 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.  
 
Financial assets 
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial assets are 
measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost. 

 
Classification of financial assets 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost: 
 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 

collect contractual cash flows; and 
 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
The Trust’s financial assets include trade receivables and other receivables and are recorded at amortised cost 
less impairment. 

 
Amortised cost and effective interest method 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period.  
 
 
 
 
 



Scots’ Church Board of Management 63% interest in Assembly Hall  
Notes to the financial statements 

 

14 

3.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(d) Financial assets and labilities (cont’d) 

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit‑impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are 
credit‑impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the 
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the 
debt instrument on initial recognition.  
 

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method 
of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any 
loss allowance. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The Trust recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables. The amount of expected 
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the 
respective financial instrument. 

 
The Trust always recognises lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) for trade receivables. The expected credit 
losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Trust’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment 
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of 
money where appropriate. 

 
Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a financial instrument. During 2020, no impairment of trade receivables has been recorded 
(2019: nil). 
 

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of 
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described 
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount 
at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the 
reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default date 
determined based on historical trend, the Trust’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of the 
debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.  

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows 
that are due to the Trust in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Trust expects to receive, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.  

If the Trust has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in 
the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL 
are no longer met, the Trust measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current 
reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.  

The Trust recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a 
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(d) Financial assets and labilities (cont’d) 

Derecognition of financial assets 

The Trust derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to 
another Trust. If the Trust neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and 
continues to control the transferred asset, the Trust recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Trust retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of a transferred financial asset, the Trust continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.  

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.  
 
Financial liabilities  

Financial liabilities, including trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Trust becomes 
obliged to make future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services. These are initially measured 
at fair value, net of transaction costs. All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.  

 
Derecognition 

The Trust derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Trust’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and 
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement 
of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

 
 

(e) Property, plant and equipment 
Land and buildings are carried at cost and are classified a heritage assets.  
Heritage assets are historical buildings, that do not have limited useful lives, as the Trust adopts appropriate 
curatorial and preservation policies, and therefore are not be subject to depreciation. 
 

(f) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the trust has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is 
probable, and the amount of the provisions can be measured reliably. 
 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at reporting date, taking in to account the risks and the uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 
Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 
amount is the present value of those cash flows. 
 

(g) Income tax 
The Trust is exempt from income tax under Section 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

(h) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except: 

i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables. 
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority 
is classified as operating cash flows. 
 

(i) Capital reserve 
The reserve represents the value of assets and liabilities acquired by the Trust on date of creation. 
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4.  Other expense   

Management fees 4,650 4,650

Lighting, heating and water 9,921 6,055

Rental income forgiveness 10,217 -

Bad and doubtful debts expense 5,639 -

Miscellaneous 1,132 137

 31,559 10,842

   

5.  Other receivables   

Related party receivable - 7,566

Other receivables 25,928 -

Less provision for impairment (5,639) -

 20,289 7,566
 

 

6. Property, plant and equipment  

Assembly Hall, heritage asset 3,723,359 3,723,359

Total property, plant and equipment 3,723,359 3,723,359
 

7.  Trade and other payables  

Current  

Trade payables 5,016 324

GST 8,030 10,204

Related party payable - 6,643

Accrued expenses – other 8,442 14,835

 21,488 32,006

8. Cash and cash equivalents 

(a)  Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 

  

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in 
banks and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash 
equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the 
related items in the statement of financial position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 166,781 101,024
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(b)  Reconciliation of surplus for the period to net cash flows from operating activities 

Surplus for the year 88,998 50,032
  

Movement in working capital:  

(Increase)/ decrease in assets:  

Other receivables (12,723) 11,708

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:  

Trade and other payables (10,518) 1,643

Net cash generated by operating activities 65,757 63,383
 

9.  Auditor’s remuneration  

Audit of the financial statements 12,800 10,500

 12,800 10,500
 
The auditor of Scots’ Church Board of Management 63% interest in Assembly Hall is Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu. 

 
 
10.  Subsequent events 

The Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) was declared a pandemic in March 2020 by the World Health 
Organisation (WHO).  The outbreak of COVID-19 and the subsequent quarantine measures imposed by 
the Australian and other Governments as well as the travel and trade restrictions imposed by Australia 
and other countries in early 2020 have caused disruption to business and economic activity.  In early 
September 2020 the state of disaster in Victoria was extended until March 2021.  The unprecedented 
economic uncertainty created by COVID-19 makes it difficult for the Directors to reliably estimate the 
potential impact of the pandemic after the reporting date on, its operations, future results and financial 
position. 
 
At present there are ongoing negotiations between the Assembly Hall Management Committee and the 
tenants to provide COVID-19 rent relief for the period June 2020 to September 2020. 
 
Furthermore, on the 14th July The Scots’ Church Melbourne’s Board of Management formed a committee 
titled “Scots’ Church Assembly Hall Negotiation Committee” to enter in to negotiations with the “Ad hoc 
Negotiation of the Sale of the Assembly Hall Committee” to purchase the 37% ownership of the Assembly 
Hall held by the Presbyterian Church of Victoria. 
 
There has not been any other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year 
that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the operations of the Trust, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Trust in future financial years. 
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TRUSTEES’ REPORT 
 
The Trustees of The Scots' Church Minor Trusts ("the Trust") submit herewith the annual report of the 
Trust for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 
 
The Trustees acted for the following Trusts in the financial year ended 30 June 2020: 

Name of Trust  
The Estate of Allan Woodrow Raymond  
The Estate of Angus McCann Fund  
The Estate of Edna Holland  
The Estate of Elizabeth Mclntyre Smith  
The Estate of Laurence Frederick L'Estrange  
The Estate of Mary Jane Haynes  
The Estate of W F Brodbeck  
The Holland / Williams Trust  
The Jean Kidd Preaching Fund  
The John and Matilda Turnbull Trust  
The Margaret Hargreaves Trust  
The Munro Fund  
The Scots' Church Youth Ministry Fund  
The Turnbull War Memorial Fund  
The William Norvall Trust  
The Estate of Ruth Jamieson  
The Estate of Emily Wood  
The Estate of Ilma Ladner 
The Estate Annie Kerr-Smith 
The Ella and Trevor Irwin Estate 
The Max McLennan Fund 
The Rose Hooke Fund 
The Estate of Edith Elsie Baldwin 
The Miss Ann Robinson Fund 
The Estate of Sheila Marion Barr 

 

 
The names of the Trustees of the Trust during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 
Miss Dorothy R. Anstee  1997 - present 
Mr Bruce Evans   2004 - present   
Mrs Helen Holman  2004 - present 
Mr Paul Kerss   2008 - present     
Mr James Nuske  1997 - present   
 
The above named Trustees held office during and since the end of the financial year unless otherwise 
stated. 
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TRUSTEES’ REPORT (CONT’D) 
 
Principal activities 
The principal activities of the Trusts during the financial year were: 
 
The Estate of Allan Woodrow Raymond 
For general purposes. 
 
The Estate of Angus McCann Fund 
For general purposes. 
 
The Estate of Edna Holland 
For general purposes. 
 
The Estate of Elizabeth Mclntyre Smith 
For general purposes. 
 
The Estate of Laurence Frederick L'Estrange 
To supplement The Turnbull War Memorial Fund and for general purposes. 
 
The Estate of Mary Jane Haynes 
For general purposes. 
 
The Estate of W F Brodbeck 
For the purpose of junior scholarships. 
 
The Holland / Williams Trust 
For housing elderly people. 
 
The Jean Kidd Preaching Fund 
To supplement The Turnbull War Memorial Fund. 
 
The John and Matilda Turnbull Trust 
To enable prominent overseas preachers to occupy the pulpit of The Scots' Church. 
 
The Margaret Hargreaves Trust 
To support ministerial education. 
 
The Munro Fund 
For religious purposes in Victoria. 
 
The Scots' Church Youth Ministry Fund 
For youth ministry. 
 
The Turnbull War Memorial Fund 
To enable prominent overseas preachers to occupy the pulpit of The Scots' Church. 
 
The William Norvall Trust 
To support the Home Mission work in the State of Victoria. 
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TRUSTEES’ REPORT (CONT’D) 
 
The Estate of Ruth Jamieson 
For youth ministry. 
 
The Estate of Emily Wood 
For general purposes. 
 
The Ilma Ladner Estate 
For general purposes. 
 
The Annie Kerr-Smith Estate 
For general purposes. 
 
The Ella and Trevor Irwin Estate 
For general purposes. 
 
The Max McLennan Fund 
For Anniversary flowers. 
 
The Rose Hooke Fund 
For general purposes. 
 
The Estate of Edith Elsie Baldwin 
To enable prominent overseas preachers to occupy the pulpit of The Scots’ Church. 
 
The Miss Ann Robinson Fund 
For Music in the Church. 
 
The Estate of Sheila Marion Barr 
For the construction of a small Chapel in the Wool Corner or for the Music of the Church. 
 
There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities of the Trust during the financial 
year. 
 
Review of operations 
The results of the operations of the Trust are disclosed in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of these financial statements. The surplus (loss) for the financial year was 
($173,994) (2019: $609,586). 
 
Changes in state of affairs 
There was no significant change in the state of affairs of the Trust during the financial year. 
 
Subsequent events 
There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year 
that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Trust, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Trust in future financial years. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE TRUSTEES OF THE SCOTS’ CHURCH MINOR TRUSTS 

 
 
Opinion  
  

We have audited the financial report of The Scots’ Church Minor Trusts (the Trust), being a special 
purpose financial report, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of cash flows and statement of 
changes in equity for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, and the Trustees’ Declaration.  

 

In our opinion, the financial report of The Scots’ Church Minor Trusts is in accordance with the financial 
reporting requirements of the Trustees as described in Note 3 to the financial report, including: 

 
o giving a true and fair view of the Trust’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its 

performance for the year then ended. 

Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Trust in accordance with the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. 
We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
We draw attention to Note 3 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial 
report has been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the Trustees’ reporting requirements. As a result, 
the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE TRUSTEES OF SCOTS’ CHURCH MINOR TRUSTS 

 
 
 

Responsibilities of the Trustees for the Financial Report 
 
The Trustees of the Trust are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view and have determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 3 to the financial report is 
appropriate to meet the reporting requirements of the Trustees. The Trustees’ responsibility also 
includes such internal control as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of a 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Trust’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the Trust or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
 

 

DFK BKM Audit Services 
Camberwell, Victoria 
 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Director: Kevin P. Adams  
 
Dated this 25th day of August 2020 
 
  





THE SCOTS’ CHURCH MINOR TRUSTS 
A.B.N 89 115 098 913 

8 
 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 

 2020 2019 
 Note   $   $  

Income    

Interest income  9,594 10,504 
Dividends received  235,979 543,714 
Net realised and unrealised (loss)/gain on investments  (319,137) 292,633 
(Loss)/gain on sale of shares  (6,080) (155,794) 
Other income  2,110 1,110 
  (77,534) 692,167 
Expenses    

Bank charges  (7) (13) 
Music expenses  (12,820) (12,043) 
Donations 4 (30,000) - 
Investment expenses  (40,525) (38,923) 
Other expenses  (13,108) (31,602) 
  (96,460) (82,581) 
    

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR   (173,994) 609,586 
    

Other comprehensive income  - - 
    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  (173,994) 609,586 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.  
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 

 

 
 2020 2019 

Note $ $ 
Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 9(a) 632,974 807,703 
Trade and other receivables 5 67,521 235,132 
Total current assets  700,495 1,042,835 
    

Non-current assets    

Other financial assets 6 5,615,615 5,449,852 
Property, plant and equipment 7 - - 
Total non-current assets  5,615,615 5,449,852 
Total assets  6,316,110 6,492,687 
    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 8 19,647 22,230 
Total current liabilities  19,647 22,230 
Total liabilities  19,647 22,230 
Net assets  6,296,463 6,470,457 
    

Trust funds    

Accumulated funds  6,296,463 6,470,457 
Total trust funds  6,296,463 6,470,457 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.  
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 Accumulated funds 

$ 
  

Balance at 1 July 2018 5,860,871 
Surplus for the year 609,586 
Total comprehensive income for the year 609,586 
Balance at 30 June 2019 6,470,457 

  
Balance at 1 July 2019 6,470,457 
Loss for the year (173,994) 
Total comprehensive income for the year (173,994) 
Balance at 30 June 2020 6,296,463 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.  
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 

 2020 2019 
Note $ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Dividends and other investment income received  249,915 526,456 
Interest received  8,831 11,306 
Franking credits and withholding tax refunded  156,548 - 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (99,043) (211,732) 
Net cash generated by operating activities 9(b) 316,251 326,030 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Purchases of financial assets   (887,072) (1,123,920) 
Proceeds from sale of financial assets  396,092 1,039,641 
Net cash generated by/(used in) investing activities  (490,980) (84,279) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities  - - 
    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (174,729) 241,751 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  807,703 565,952 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 9(a) 632,974 807,703 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
1.  General information 
 
The Scots’ Church Minor Trusts’ registered office and principal place of business are as follows: 
 

 The Scots’ Church Melbourne 
1/156 Collins Street 
MELBOURNE  VIC 3000 
 

2.  Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards  
 
2.1 New and revised AASBs affecting amounts reported and/or disclosures in the 
financial statements 
 
There have been no new and revised Standards adopted in the current period that have a 
financial or disclosure impact on the financial statements.    
 
2.2 Standards and interpretations in issue not yet adopted 
 
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, a number of Standards and 
Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective. These are not expected to have any 
significant impact on the financial statements.            
 
3.  Significant accounting policies  
 
Financial reporting framework 
The Trust is not a reporting entity because in the opinion of the trustees there are unlikely to 
exist users of the financial report who are unable to command the preparation of reports 
tailored so as to satisfy specifically all of their information needs. Accordingly, these special 
purpose financial statements have been prepared to satisfy the Trustees’ reporting 
requirements. For the purposes of this financial report the trust is a not for profit entity. 
 
Statement of compliance 
The financial report has been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out 
below, and the disclosure requirements of Accounting Standards AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements, AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows, AASB 108 Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and AASB 1054 Australian Additional 
Disclosures. 
 
Basis of preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for certain 
non-current assets and financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair 
values, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the 
fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in 
Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
In the application of the Trusts’ accounting policies, which are described below, the Trustees 
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods. 
 
Judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements concern depreciation rates.  These are 
reviewed annually to ensure that assets are being appropriately depreciated. No key 
assumptions have been made concerning the future and there are no other key sources of 
estimation at the balance date that has a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
Useful lives and residual value of property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually. 
Judgement is applied in determining the useful lives of property, plant and equipment. Any 
reassessment of useful lives and residual value in a particular year will affect depreciation and 
amortisation expense (either increasing or decreasing) from the date of reassessment through 
to the end of the reassessed useful life for both the current and future years. 
 
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and 
presentation of the financial report: 
(a) Income 

Dividends and interest income 
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders' right to receive 
payment has been established (provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the Trust and the amount of income can be measured reliably). 
 
Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic 
benefits will flow to the Trust and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest 
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying 
amount in initial recognition. 
 
Bequests 
Donations and bequests are recognised upon receipt or unconditional entitlement. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
(b) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks and short term deposits 
with maturities of three months or less. 
 

(c) Financial assets 
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at 
fair value through profit or loss’ (FVTPL). 
 
Financial assets at FVTPL 
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for 
trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.  

 
Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on 
remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or 
loss is included in the unrealised gain on revaluation of financial assets line item in profit 
or loss.  

(d) Property, plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their 
residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful 
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 

 
The following depreciation rates are used in the calculation of depreciation: 
 
Equipment   25% straight line 
 

(e) Trade and other payables  
Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Trust becomes 
obliged to make future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services. 
 

(f)  Income tax  
The Trust is exempt from income tax under Section 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment 
Act 1997. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
(g) Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services 
tax (GST), except: 
i.  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is 

recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; 
or 

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included 
as part of receivables or payables. 
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST 
component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified within operating cash 
flows. 
 

(h) Comparative amounts 
Where the Trust has changed the presentation or classification of items in its financial 
statements, comparative amounts have also been reclassified unless the reclassification 
is deemed impracticable. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 2020 2019 

 $  $  
 

4. Donations   

The Royal Flying Doctor   

Wish Ambulance 10,000 - 
Flying Doctor Telehealth 10,000 - 

 20,000 - 
   

Red Cross   
Bushfire Appeal 10,000 - 
 10,000 - 

   
Total Donations 30,000 - 

 
 

5. Trade and other receivables   

Franking credits recoverable 52,246 208,794 
Other receivables 3,919 4,056 
Dividends receivable 11,356 22,282 

 67,521 235,132 
 

6. Other Financial Assets   
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)   

Listed equities 5,615,615 5,449,852 
 5,615,615 5,449,852 

 
7. Property plant and equipment   
Equipment – at cost         5,499         5,499  
Accumulated depreciation (5,499) (5,499) 

               -                -   
 

8. Trade and other payables   
Trade payables - - 
Accrued expenses 19,647 22,230 
 19,647 22,230 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 2020 2019 

 $  $  
 

9. Cash and cash equivalents   
(a)  Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents   
Cash at bank 300,227 140,329 
Cash trust 64,749 404,164 
Short term deposits 267,998 263,210 
 632,974 807,703 
   
(b)  Reconciliation of surplus/loss for the year to net cash flows from 
operating activities 
Surplus/(loss) for the year (173,994) 609,586 
Net unrealised loss/(gains) on financial assets 319,137 (292,633) 
Loss/(gain) on sale of shares 6,080 155,794 
   
Movement in working capital:   
(Increase)/decrease in assets:   
Trade and other receivables 167,611 (149,005) 
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:   
Trade and other payables (2,583) 2,288 
Net cash generated by operating activities 316,251 326,030 

 
10.  Commitments and Contingencies 

The Trust does not have any material commitments or contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020. 
 
11. Auditors remuneration    
Audit of the financial statements 10,314 10,000 

 
The auditor of The Scots’ Church Minor Trusts is DFK BKM Audit Services. 
 
12.  Subsequent events 
 
There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year 
that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the entity, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the entity in future financial years. 
 



























ST STEPHENS FLEMINGTON PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH
Statement of Receipts and Expenditure 1/7/18 to 30/6/19

Receipts Expenditure
Balance of Accounts 1/7/18- 97,803.60$   Ministers Stipend $27,568.00
Offerings 45,497.00$   Ministers NCB's $14,844.00 42,412.00$   
Donations 2,500.00$     Ministers Super'n $6,337.00
Missions -$              Ministers Insurance, LSL $1,950.00 8,287.00$     
Bank Interest 34.00$          Supply Preaching & Travel 5,365.00$     
Rental Income 60,841.00$   Office & Administration Costs 3,050.00$     
Term Deposit Interest 1,401.42$     Evangelism $0.00

-$              Missions $386.00 386.00$        
-$              Congregational Expenses 2,534.00$     
-$              Property Expenses -
-$              Church, Hall, etc. -
-$              Maint. & Improvements $3,589.00
-$              Outgoings $14,183.40
-$              Other Property Costs $0.00 17,772.40$   
-$              Manse & Other -

Maint. & Improvements $1,297.00
Outgoings $7,091.00
Rental Costs $4,909.00 13,297.00$   
PCV GMP Budget Allocation 1,384.00$     
PCV Assembly & Presbytery Rates 991.00$        

-$              
Balance of Accounts at 30/6/19- 112,598.62$ 

208,077.02$ 208,077.02$ 

Represented By :-
General Cheque Account - 44,811.02$   
ANZ Term Deposit #989933586 - 67,787.60$   

Total Income- 110,273.42$ -$              
Total Paid Out- 95,478.40$   -$              
SURPLUS for Yr- $14,795.02 Balance of Accounts at 30/6/19- 112,598.62$ 

Funds have INCREASED by - $14,795.02

I have examined the Books of Account and the Financial Records of the St Stephens
Flemington Presbyterian Church, and it is my opinion that the above Statement of Receipts 
and Expenditure gives a true and fair view of the operations of the Church for 
the period 1/7/18 to 30/6/19 and its Bank Accounts balances as at 30/06/2019.

Dennis K Wright   M.I.P.A. AFA August 30, 2019.
Principal in Public Practice.

Dennis K Wright & Associates (an I.P.A. firm)
86 Kurunjang Drive
KURUNJANG  Vic  3337 Mobile: 0417 571 809



 

                                                                                             
   
 
   

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
To the Members of the Congregation of 
ST STEPHENS FLEMINGTON PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH 
 
SCOPE 
 
I have audited the Financial Accounts (“the Accounts”) of the St Stephens Flemington Presbyterian 
Church for the year ended June 30, 2019. The Board of Management is responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the Accounts and the information they contain. I have performed an 
audit of the Accounts in order to express an opinion on them to the members of the Congregation. 
 
My audit has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards to provide a 
reasonable assurance as to whether the Accounts are free of material misstatement. My procedures 
included examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts and other disclosures in 
the Accounts and the evaluation of accounting policies and significant accounting estimates. 
 
These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion as to whether, in all material respects, 
the Accounts are presented fairly in accordance with Australian accounting concepts and standards 
to present a view which is consistent with my understanding of the Congregation’s financial 
position and the results of its operations for the period then ended. 
 
The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the above basis. 
 
OPINION 
 
In my opinion, the Statement of Receipts and Expenditure, showing Total Cash Assets of 
$112,598:62 and a Surplus of $14,795:02 give a true and fair view, in accordance with statements of 
accounting concepts and applicable accounting standards, of the financial position of the St 
Stephens Flemington Presbyterian Church, as at June 30, 2019 and the results of its operations for 
the year then ended. 

 
Dennis K. Wright  M.I.P.A. AFA                                                               August 30, 2019  
Principal in Public Practice	

86 Kurunjang Drive 
KURUNJANG  VIC  3337 

 
Mobile:  0417 571 809 

 
email:  dkwright86@bigpond.com 

 
 
 
 

Dennis K. Wright  
& Associates 
 
PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
 
REGISTERED SMSF AUDITOR 
 
ABN  15 475 458 239 
 



ST STEPHENS FLEMINGTON PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH
Statement of Receipts and Expenditure 1/7/2019 to 30/6/2020

Receipts Expenditure
Balance of Accounts 1/7/19- 112,598.62$ Ministers Stipend $18,803.00
Offerings 40,538.00$   Ministers NCB's $10,124.00 28,927.00$   
Donations 4,960.00$     Ministers Super'n $4,339.00
Missions -$              Ministers Insurance, LSL $1,630.00 5,969.00$     
Bank Interest 37.77$          Supply Preaching & Travel 3,520.00$     
Rental Income 54,062.00$   Office & Administration Costs 2,186.65$     
Term Deposit Interest 1,365.67$     Evangelism $0.00
Bequests 25,000.00$   Missions $0.00 -$              

-$              Congregational Expenses 2,986.44$     
-$              Property Expenses -
-$              Church, Hall, etc. -
-$              Maint. & Improvements $19,395.14
-$              Outgoings $13,705.13
-$              Other Property Costs $12,389.00 45,489.27$   
-$              Manse & Other -

Maint. & Improvements $0.00
Outgoings $0.00
Rental Costs $6,627.12 6,627.12$     
PCV GMP Budget Allocation 2,082.00$     
PCV Assembly & Presbytery Rates 989.00$        

-$              
Balance of Accounts at 30/6/2020- 139,785.58$ 

238,562.06$ 238,562.06$ 

Represented By :-
General Cheque Account - 40,632.31$   
ANZ Term Deposit #989933586 - 68,964.97$   

Total Income- 125,963.44$ ANZ Term Deposit #911439532 - 30,188.30$   
Total Paid Out- 98,776.48$   -$              
SURPLUS for Yr- $27,186.96 Balance of Accounts at 30/6/2020- 139,785.58$ 

Funds have INCREASED by - $27,186.96

I have examined the Books of Account and the Financial Records of the St Stephens
Flemington Presbyterian Church, and it is my opinion that the above Statement of Receipts 
and Expenditure gives a true and fair view of the operations of the Church for 
the period 1/7/2019 to 30/6/2020 and its Bank Accounts balances as at 30/06/2020.

Dennis K Wright   M.I.P.A. AFA July 17, 2020.
Principal in Public Practice.

Dennis K Wright & Associates (an I.P.A. firm)
86 Kurunjang Drive
KURUNJANG  Vic  3337 Mobile: 0417 571 809



 

                                                                                             
   
 
                                     INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
To the Members of the Congregation of 
ST STEPHENS FLEMINGTON PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH 
 
SCOPE 
 
I have audited the Financial Accounts (“the Accounts”) of the St Stephens Flemington Presbyterian 
Church for the year ended June 30, 2020. The Board of Management is responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the Accounts and the information they contain. I have performed an 
audit of the Accounts in order to express an opinion on them to the members of the Congregation. 
 
My audit has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards to provide a 
reasonable assurance as to whether the Accounts are free of material misstatement. My procedures 
included examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts and other disclosures in 
the Accounts and the evaluation of accounting policies and significant accounting estimates. 
 
These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion as to whether, in all material respects, 
the Accounts are presented fairly in accordance with Australian accounting concepts and standards 
to present a view which is consistent with my understanding of the Congregation’s financial 
position and the results of its operations for the period then ended. 
 
The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the above basis. 
 
OPINION 
 
In my opinion, the Statement of Receipts and Expenditure, showing Total Cash Assets of 
$139,785:58 and a Surplus of $27,186:96 give a true and fair view, in accordance with statements of 
accounting concepts and applicable accounting standards, of the financial position of the St 
Stephens Flemington Presbyterian Church, as at June 30, 2020 and the results of its operations for 
the year then ended. 

 
Dennis K. Wright  M.I.P.A. AFA                                                              July 17, 2020  
Principal in Public Practice 
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